IDENTIFYING TBK1-SPECIFIC ROLES IN COLORECTAL CANCER

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING AND SCIENCE OF BILKENT UNIVERSITY

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY AND GENETICS

By Servin Bagheralmoosavi June 2022

IDENTIFYING TBK1-SPECIFIC ROLES IN COLORECTAL CANCER

By Servin Bagheralmoosavi June 2022

We certify that we have read this thesis and that in our opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and in quality, as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

Serkan İsmail Göktuna (Advisor)

Bahar Değirmenci Uzun

Nuray Varol

Approved for the Graduate School of Engineering and Science:

Ezhan Karaşan

Director of the Graduate School of Engineering and Science

ABSTRACT

IDENTIFYING TBK1-SPECIFIC ROLES IN COLORECTAL CANCER

Servin Bagheralmoosavi

M.Sc. in Molecular Biology and Genetics Advisor: Serkan İsmail Göktuna June 2022

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second most lethal cancer type, with a high incidence rate among adults. The CRC is a highly heterogenic disease with a high rate of mutations in different molecular pathways. Moreover, resistance to standard treatment options is seen frequently among CRC patients. Therefore, a better understanding of the mechanisms behind the initiation, progression, and drug resistance allows us to increase the life quality of CRC patients. TBK1 is a kinase protein with central roles in most cellular signaling pathways. This protein has been reported to be an oncogene in some cancer types. However, the role of TBK1 in colorectal cancer is not yet established. In this study, we generated stable TBK1 knockdown CRC cell lines and mainly focused on the role of TBK1 in colorectal cancer pathogenesis. Upon TBK1 depletion in CRC, we observed increased cell proliferation and migration in vitro. The role of TBK1 in cell proliferation is further confirmed in xenograft models in vivo. Moreover, a shift in EMT and resistance to Gefitinib, an EGFR inhibitor, is indicated in TBK1 knockdown cells. TBK1 is also diminished in our Gefitinib-resistant CRC cell lines, suggesting a role for this protein in drug resistance. The findings of this study suggest a tumor-suppressive role for TBK1 in CRC. Hence, further investigations on the mechanisms behind this tumorsuppressive role of TBK1 in CRC will pave the way for developing novel therapeutic options for CRC treatment.

Keywords: Colorectal Cancer, TBK1, EMT, drug resistance, Gefitinib

ÖZET

KOLOREKTAL KANSERDE TBK1'E ÖZGÜ ROLLERİN BELİRLENMESİ

Servin Bagheralmoosavi Moleküler Biology ve Genetik, Yüksek Lisans Tez Danışmanı: Serkan İsmail Göktuna Haziran 2022

Kolorektal kanser (KRK), yetişkinler arasında yüksek bir vaka oranına sahip ikinci en ölümcül kanser tipidir. KRK yüksek bir heterojeniteye sahip olup farklı sinyal yolaklarında görevli çeşitli proteinlerde mutasyonlar gözlemlenmektedir. Ayrıca çoğu hasta standart tedavi yöntemlerine karşı direnç geliştirmektedir. Bu yüzden, KRK'nin başlangıcı, ilerleyişi ve kemoterapi direncinde rol alan mekanizmaların anlaşılması KRK hastalarının hayat kalitesinin arttırılması için önemlidir. TBK1 hücrede birçok sinyal yolağında mühim rolleri olan bir kinaz proteini olup bazı kanser türlerinde onkogen olduğu görülmüstür. Ancak, TBK1'in KRK'daki rolü henüz tam olarak anlaşılmamıştır. Bu çalışmada stabil TBK1 knockdown KRK hücre hatları geliştirip TBK1'in KRK'nin patogenezindeki ana rolünü inceledik. TBK1'in KRK'deki delesyonu sonucunda hücre proliferasyonu ve göçünde in vitro artış gözlemledik. TBK1'in hücre proliferasyonundaki rolü in vivo ksenograft modelleriyle de doğrulanmıştır. Bunların yanı sıra, TBK1 knockdown hücrelerde epitel-mezenkimal geçiş (EMG) ve Gefitinib (EGFR inhibitörü) direnci gösterilmiştir. Buna ek olarak, Gefitinib-dirençli KRK hücre hatlarında TBK1'in azalması da kemoterapi direncindeki rolünü işaret etmektedir. Bu çalışmadaki bulgular TBK1'in KRK'de tümör baskılayıcı bir rolü olduğunu göstermektedir. Bu yüzden, TBK1'in KRK'deki tümör baskılayıcı mekanizmalarının incelenmesi yeni terapötik stratejilerin geliştirilmesinin önünü açacaktır.

Anahtar sözcükler: Kolorektal kanser, TBK1, EMG, kemoterapi direnci, Gefitinib

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Asst. Prof. Serkan İsmail Göktuna. Without his constant support and valuable guidance, this dissertation would not have been possible. I have benefited from his knowledge and suggestions throughout the thesis process.

I am extremely thankful to Dr. Tieu Lan Chau for her noble guidance, suggestions, and assistance during the experiments and data analysis. Her participation in constructive feedback, kind support, and advice has enriched this study.

I would like to thank the committee members, Asst. Prof. Bahar Değirmenci Uzun and Assoc. Prof. Nuray Varol. Their contribution and detailed feedbacks were critical to me.

My sincere thanks go to my friends Beste Uygur, Zeynep Güneş Tepe, and Alperen Baran for their emotional support and help. Their friendship is valuable more than I can express by words. I am also thankful to my labmate Ümran Borucu who was always ready to help me without any question.

I express my deepest gratitude to my family for the continuous encouragement and hope they had given me. I am also thankful to my spouse, Houman, for always being there for me, for his unconditional love, and unfailing support throughout the thesis.

I would like to thank the members of the Molecular Biology and Genetics Department at Bilkent University for their support and help.

Finally, I thank TÜBİTAK (116Z349) for the financial support of this study.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACTiii		
ÖZETiv		
Acknowledgmentsv		
Table of Contents		
List of Figuresix		
List of Tablesx		
1 Introduction		
1.1 Colorectal Cancer		
1.2Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT)61.2.1EMT in colorectal cancer71.2.1.1Signaling pathways of EMT in colorectal cancer71.2.1.2EMT and drug resistance in colorectal cancer8		
1.3TBK1 gene91.3.1Structure and biological functions of TBK191.3.2TBK1 activation111.3.3Signaling pathways of TBK111		
1.3.4 TBK1 and innate immune responses 11 1.3.4.1 TBK1 and IRF pathway 12 1.2 12 12		
1.3.4.2TBK1 and NF-κB signaling pathway121.3.4.3TBK1 and STAT3/6 pathway131.3.5TBK1 and autophagy13		
1.3.6 TBK1 in the pathogenesis of human cancers		
1.3.6.2TBK1 promotes tumorigenic cytokine production		
1.4 Aim of the study		
2 Materials and Methods		
2.1 Materials 18 2.1.1 Chemicals 18 2.1.2 Reagents 19		

	2.1.3	Cell culture media, chemicals, and solutions	20
	2.1.4	Buffers	21
	2.1.5	Kits	. 22
	2.1.6	Antibodies	. 22
	2.1.7	Consumables	23
	2.2	Methods	. 24
	2.2.1	Cell Maintenance	24
	2.2.2	Cryopreservation of Cells	25
	2.2.3	Thawing Cells	25
	2.2.4	PCR-based Mycoplasma test	25
	2.2.5	Enzyme-based Mycoplasma test	. 26
	2.2.6	Lentiviral shRNA Transfection and Transduction	. 27
	2.2.7	siRNA Transfection	. 28
	2.2.8	Generation of Gefitinib-Resistant DLD1 Cells	28
	2.2.9	Determination of Gefitinib IC_{50}	28
	2.2.10	0 Cell-Titer Glo Luminescent Cell Viability Assay	28
	2.2.1	I Sulforhadamine B (SRB) assay	29
	2.2.1	2 Colony Formation Assay	29
	2.2.1.	Wound Healing Assay	29
	$2.2.1^{2}$	 Transwell Migration Assay Transwell Impactor Assay 	20
	2.2.1.	6 Drotoin Extraction from Cultured Colla	20
	2.2.10	7 Protein Quantification	20
	2.2.1	Western Blotting	30
	2.2.10	Generating Venograft Mice Models	31
	2.2.1	9 Ocherating Achograft Whee Wodels	52
3	Resul	lts	33
	3.1	The expression level of TBK1 was detected in CRC cell lines.	33
	3.2	Cell proliferation and colony formation are enhanced upon TBK1 depletion in	
	colorect	al cancer cell lines	.33
	3.3	Xenograft models of shRNA TBK1 DLD1 cell line showed promoted tumor growth	.37
	3.4	Loss of TBK1 has increased the migration of colorectal cancer cell lines	39
	3.5	Invasion of colorectal cancer cell lines is promoted upon TBK1 depletion	42
	3.6 Jines.	Absence of TBK1 induced epithelial to mesenchymal (EMT) in colorectal cancer ce 44	11
	3.7	TBK1 depletion makes colorectal cancer cell lines resistant to Gefitinib	45
	3.8	Generation of Gefitinib resistant DLD1 colorectal cancer cell line	46
	3.9 I resistant	During the time, morphology and expression levels of EMT markers of the Gefitinib t DLD1 cells were changed compared to the control cells.	, 48
4	Discu	ission	51
5	Conc	lusion and future perspectives	56

6	Bibliography		8
---	--------------	--	---

List of Figures

Figure 1. Steps of initiation and progression of colorectal cancer
Figure 2. Structure of TBK1 protein10
Figure 3. The expression level of TBK1 in CRC cell lines
Figure 4. Cell proliferation is enhanced upon TBK1 depletion in CRC cell lines.)
Figure 5. TBK1 inhibits single cells from forming colonies in CRC cell lines
Figure 6. Promoted tumor growth was seen in shRNA TBK1 cell line-derived xenografts. 39
Figure 7. Migration of CRC cell lines is negatively correlated with TBK142
Figure 8. TBK1 depleted colorectal cancer cell lines invaded more compared to the control cells.
Figure 9. Epithelial to mesenchymal process is induced upon TBK1 depletion in colorectal
cancer cell lines45
Figure 10. TBK1 depleted colorectal cancer cell lines are more resistant to Gefitinib than control
cells46
Figure 11. Generation of Gefitinib Resistant DLD1 cells
Figure 12. Determination of Gefitinib IC50 value of Gef-DLD1 and control cells
Figure 13. Morphology and expression of EMT markers were changed in Gefitinib-resistant cells
compared to the control cells

List of Tables

Table 1. Chemicals used in this study	18
Table 2. Reagents used in this study	19
Table 3. Cell culture media, chemicals, and solutions used in this study	20
Table 4. Buffers used in this study	21
Table 5. Kits used in this study	22
Table 6. Antibodies used in this study	22
Table 7. Consumables used in this study.	23
Table 8. Reaction mixture of PCR-based mycoplasma test	25
Table 9. Conditions of PCR test for mycoplasma	26
Table 10. Components used in lentiviral transfection	27
Table 11. Protein quantification standards	31

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 Colorectal Cancer

Colorectal Cancer (CRC) is one of the most aggressive cancer types with a high incidence rate. In 2020, nearly 10% of the newly diagnosed cancer types were colorectal cancer. It is also ranked as the second most lethal cancer type in 2020¹. It is the second most common cancer type in women and the third most common in men, with 9.4% and 10.6% incidence rates respectively¹. Upon some genetic mutations in specific epithelial cells in the large intestine, these cells acquire some features such as abnormal high proliferation and survival. Then they change to benign adenoma, which during the time they might become malignant carcinoma². Colorectal cancer generally consists of different stages. Stages I and II of the disease are curable since the invasive cancer is not yet metastasized to the other sites of the body. Surgery is a treatment option in this stage. Although cancer cells of stage III are metastasized to the proximal lymph nodes, approximately 70% of the cancers in this stage are curable by surgery and chemotherapy. Still, cure at stage IV of the disease is primarily unsuccessful ^{3–5}. Colorectal cancer is classified into different types according to the different kinds of mutations in the cells. Sporadic cancers are the cancers that are happening due to point mutations. These mutations are not inherited, so they can affect individual cells. This type is the most common type that consists of approximately 70% of the cases ⁶. The second type of colorectal cancer is the inherited type. Inherited mutations cause these cancers. Inherited cancers also consist of two different subgroups called familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC). FAP is caused by the formation of multiple malignant polyps in the colon⁷. The main reason for HNPCC is mutations and deficiencies in DNA repair system⁷. Many risk factors increase the chance of developing malignant carcinoma. Age is the most critical risk factor for this disease. In adults, after the fifth decade of life, the risk of developing colorectal cancer increases⁸. Other than age, the history of some diseases, such as ulcerative

colitis ⁹ or Crohn's disease ¹⁰, increases the risk of the onset of colorectal cancer. Familial history

1

of colorectal cancer is also a significant risk factor ¹¹. Other risk factors are related to the lifestyle, such as obesity, low physical activity, smoking, and alcohol consumption. It is shown that obesity and unhealthy dietary habits can increase colorectal cancer risk by up to 70% ¹². The CRC is a highly heterogenic disease with a high rate of mutations in different molecular pathways. To improve the treatment and diagnosis of this disease, it is vital to understand the molecular mechanism and genetic and epigenetic risk factors leading to this disease.

1.1.1 Molecular mechanisms of colorectal cancer

Genomic instability is a cellular feature that plays a crucial role in tumor initiation and progression. There are three different pathways of genomic instability, chromosomal instability (CIN), microsatellite instability (MSI), and CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP), which are required for colorectal cancer progression ¹³.

Chromosomal instability (CIN) is a common mechanism observed in around 65-70% of sporadic colorectal cancer cases ¹⁴. Accumulating mutations in various oncogene and tumor suppressor genes triggering colorectal cancer initiation and progression is a common characteristic of the CIN pathway. As a result of CIN, aneuploidy and loss of heterozygosity (LOH) happen, leading to chromosomal number and structure alterations. It is shown that there is a loss of an average of 25-30% of alleles in tumors ¹⁵. It is observed that the loss of chromosomes 1,5,8,17, and 18 frequently happens in colorectal cancer ¹⁶.

According to the multistep genetic model of colorectal carcinogenesis proposed by Fearon and Vogelstein in 1990 ⁶, according to the mutations in adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) tumor suppressor gene, KRAS oncogene mutagenic activation can occur ⁶. Additional mutations in different pathways such as TGF- β and TP-53 lead to malignant transformations ^{17,18}. According to the multistep genetic model of colorectal carcinoma represented in Figure 1 ¹³, according to the mutations in APC, activating mutations of the Wnt signaling pathway occur in the early stages of the disease. KRAS activation is followed by mutations in TP53 and loss of heterozygosity on chromosome 18q in the late adenoma and invasive cancer stage.



Figure 1. Steps of initiation and progression of colorectal cancer. APC mutations happen in the initial stages of colorectal cancer, while mutations follow it on different pathways such as KRAS and TP53. *Adapted from THE CHROMOSOMAL INSTABILITY PATHWAY IN COLON CANCER by Pino et al.*, 2010

As mentioned above, Wnt signaling activation occurs due to APC inactivation, which can be considered the most crucial change in colorectal cancer pathogenesis. In normal cells, APC interacts with glycogen synthase kinase3- β (GSK-3 β) and β -catenin, two essential components of the Wnt signaling pathway ¹⁹. As a result, β -catenin is degraded, and the Wnt signal is suppressed. The mutation in APC prevents the complex formation. Hence, the accumulated β catenin in the cytoplasm translocates to the nucleus where it interacts with the TCF-LEF transcription factors, which then transcription of downstream genes initiates, leading to increased tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis.

KRAS mutations have a high-rate incidence in colorectal cancers ²⁰. In the KRAS-mediated pathways, SOS, a guanine exchange factor, is become activated upon binding of growth factor to its receptor. SOS stimulates the exchange of GDP bond RAS with GTP, which is the active form of RAS. Active RAS leads to increased growth, differentiation, cell proliferation, and cell survival by activating multiple signaling pathways such as phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase (PI3K) and MEK-ERK pathways. Constitutively active KRAS has been detected in around 30-40% of

colorectal cancer cases ²⁰. NRAS mutations are also seen in colorectal cancer cases; however, their frequency rate is much less than the KRAS mutations ²¹.

On the other hand, TP53 mutations are also seen in up to 60% of colorectal cancer patients with poor clinical outcomes ²². The modifications in this tumor suppressor gene are mostly AT to GC transition missense mutations that lead to the synthesis of an inactive protein. Moreover, chromosome 18q loss has been detected in colorectal tumors, especially in the advanced stages. SMAD2 and SMAD4 are the tumor suppressor genes on 18q with cell growth and apoptosis roles. Mutations in these genes are identified in some colorectal cancers ^{23,24}. Other than the chromosomal instability (CIN), the microsatellite instability (MSI) phenotype has been found in some colorectal cancers. This phenotype is known for alterations in simple repetitive DNA sequences called microsatellites, caused by DNA mismatch repair mechanisms (MMR) defects.

In addition to the CIN and MSI pathways, the CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP) is the other subset of colorectal cancer characterized by the inactivation of several tumor suppressor genes upon hypermethylation promoter CpG island sites ²⁵.

1.1.2 Treatment of colorectal cancer

Despite advanced screening methods to detect CRC at initial stages, most cases of the CRC are detected late, when they are at advanced stages. Treatment at this stage is challenging because of metastatic tumors. The primary treatment of CRC is consisted of surgery, chemotherapy, and targeted therapy. 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) is the main chemotherapy option for CRC patients. This drug is used alone or combined with other chemotherapy agents such as oxaliplatin, irinotecan, and capecitabine ²⁶. Although combination therapy effectively increases the overall survival rate in CRC patients, acquired resistance to the drugs is the main problem in chemotherapy-based treatments.

Targeted therapy is a practical approach to CRC treatment, including monoclonal antibodies and small-molecule inhibitors. Several pathways have roles in the initiation, progression, and metastasis of CRC, such as EGFR, VEGF, Hedgehog, TGF- β , Notch, and Wnt/ β -catenin. These pathways are potential targets for therapy against CRC ²⁶.

EGFR is an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase that contributes to cell survival, cell growth, and migration of tumors. Once EGFR is activated, it triggers downstream signaling pathways, including RAS/ERK, PI3K/AKT, and JAK/STAT ²⁷. EGFR overexpression has been detected in breast, non-small cell lung, and colorectal cancers ^{28–30}. EGFR activation via EGF ligands phosphorylates RAS/RAF, activating MEK/ERK kinases. Nucleus translocation of ERK causes an increase in the expression of genes related to cell survival, cell growth, and invasion ³¹. PI3K pathway activation by EGFR leads to the phosphorylation and activation of AKT, which regulates cell growth and apoptosis ³².

Tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) and anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies are the primary molecules to target EGFR in CRC treatment. Cetuximab and panitumumab are among the first FDA-approved monoclonal antibodies targeting EGFR. Cetuximab treatment alone or in combination with irinotecan has improved the overall survival of patients with irinotecan-resistant colorectal cancer ³³. In a phase III study, panitumumab is reported to increase the overall survival of metastatic colorectal cancer patients when combined with FOLFOX4 compared to FOLFOX4 alone ³⁴.

One of the most crucial downstream signaling pathways of EGFR is the RAS/RAF pathway. Indeed, mutations of this pathway are one of the primary mediators of acquired drug resistance. Studies show that approximately 50% of the acquired anti-EGFR-resistant cases are due to mutations of KRAS ^{35,36}. Bouchahda et al. reported two new mutations of KRAS in a liver metastatic and cetuximab-resistant colon cancer case. No mutations in KRAS were detected prior to cetuximab treatment ³⁷. In some CRC cell lines primarily sensitive to cetuximab and panitumumab, acquired resistance to these drugs was shown. In addition to KRAS mutations, mutations in BRAF and NRAS are shown in drug-resistant tumors ³⁸.

In addition to EGFR, some growth factor receptors can activate EGFR downstream signaling pathways, such as mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor receptor (MET) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2). There are several studies about the overexpression of these receptors and anti-EGFR treatment resistance. Liska et al. showed a novel mechanism of cetuximab resistance by activation of the MET pathway. In their study, MET pathway activation rescued cell proliferation inhibition and cell cycle arrest induced by cetuximab. In addition, pharmacological inhibition of MET resensitized cells to cetuximab ³⁹. Furthermore, MET

activation is correlated with resistance to anti-EGFR therapy *in vitro* and patient-derived colorectal cancer xenografts ⁴⁰.

Bertotti et al. could show the positive correlation between HER2 gene amplification and cetuximab resistance in patient-derived xenografts. This resistance was also reversed by applying HER2 inhibitors ⁴¹.

1.2 Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT)

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is a dynamic process in which epithelial cells convert to cells with more mesenchymal features. Epithelial cells express more epithelial cell-to-cell junctions with less metastatic ability, while mesenchymal cells have gained more mobility and invasiveness by remodeling their cellular cytoskeleton ⁴². In the old concept, the EMT process is defined as a unidirectional switch between two different cell states. However, the new concept suggests multiple transitional forms of cells expressing epithelial and mesenchymal genes between the endpoint epithelial or mesenchymal states ⁴³. This intermediates state is called partial EMT. This biological program can occur in a wide range of tissues in normal physiologic or pathologic conditions. The EMT is an essential step in embryonic morphogenesis. For instance, this process is necessary to form mesoderm from primitive streak ^{43,44}.

Moreover, EMT plays an essential role in wound healing and cancer development. In cancers, some factors induce EMT, such as hypoxia, chemotherapy, and cytokines produced by the tumor microenvironment ⁴⁵. The importance of EMT in cancer progression is intensively studied. Mesenchymal cells induced by the EMT process are more invasive and aggressive than epithelial cells. They quickly invade the cells at the primary tumor sites, translocate through blood vessels, extravasate into the distant places and survive at those sites ⁴⁶. EMT is also reversible through the process named mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET). It is thought that when tumor cells reach a metastatic niche, MET is necessary to facilitate the formation of a second tumor ⁴⁵.

6

1.2.1 EMT in colorectal cancer

Increasing evidence has confirmed that EMT plays a complex and crucial role in colorectal cancer progression. The EMT process can be histologically quantified in the areas called tumor buds. Morphology change and gaining EMT profile is visible in these areas ^{47,48}. A tumor bud is an isolated cancer cell or a cluster of undifferentiated cells consisting of a maximum of five cancer cells from the invasion front ⁴⁹. A tumor bud detaches from the primary tumor body by losing E-cadherin. The microenvironment is critical in bud formation in CRC. TGF- β interacts with CD10⁺ myeloid cells at the invasion front, increasing tumor budding ⁵⁰. During EMT in CRC, epithelial cell-cell adhesion molecules such as E-cadherin, claudins, occludin, and α -catenin are downregulated. In contrast, mesenchymal markers such as vimentin, Twist1, Twist2, N-cadherin, ZEB1, smooth muscle actin (SMA), and integrin $\alpha V\beta 6$ are upregulated ⁴⁷. Downregulated E-cadherin and upregulated vimentin are associated with lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis in CRC patients ^{51–53}.

1.2.1.1 Signaling pathways of EMT in colorectal cancer

Extracellular signals in the tumor microenvironment are essential effectors in the initiation of EMT in CRC. Various signaling pathways have been mentioned in the literature to be related to EMT and cancer progression, including CRC.

TGF-β/Smad signaling pathway is one of the significant developmental pathways which plays a role in EMT regulation. TGF-β binding to the TβRI and TβRII receptors leads to the phosphorylation and activation of Smad proteins. Smad2/3 proteins translocate to the nucleus to activate SNAI1 expression. Smad4 is an inhibitor of STAT3, which has a role in the EMT process by inducing ZEB1 expression. Smad4 loss occurs in approximately 30% of metastatic CRC and is associated with E-cadherin loss ⁵⁴. In smad4 knockout colorectal cancer cell lines, increased tumorigenesis, migration, and invasion upon TGF-β induction has been reported ⁵⁵. Moreover, smad4 loss leads to the overexpression of STAT3, associated with EMT progression and E-cadherin loss in human CRC ⁵⁶.

Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway is also one of the prominent effectors of EMT. Wnt signaling induces β -catenin by inhibiting glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK3 β). Nucleus translocation of

 β -catenin promotes EMT by activating ZEB1 and SNAI1. Activated SNAI1 then promotes Wnt signaling and interacts with β -catenin. Increased nucleus β -catenin levels and decreased E-cadherin expression are reported in invasive stages of colorectal cancer cells undergoing EMT ⁵⁷. Dickkopf-1 (DDK-1), a Wnt signaling suppressor, inhibits the EMT process and CRC progression ⁵⁸.

Growth factors such as epidermal growth factor (EGF), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), which are targets of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), can promote EMT by activating several signaling pathways. The Ras/ERK1/2 pathway is one of the main pathways activated by RTKs. This cascade can activate AP1, Egr-1, and Fra-1 proteins, inducers of SLUG expression and the EMT process ⁵⁹. Raf-1 kinase inhibitor (RKIP) and PHLPP negatively regulate EMT by inhibiting RAF. It is observed that upon PHLPP1 or 2, knockdown causes a change in EMT markers and an increase in cell migration and invasion. Human CRC data also suggested a positive correlation between the expression of E-cadherin and PHLPP1 or 2 ⁶⁰. PI3K/AKT is the other signaling cascade activated by RTKs in response to growth factors. This pathway induces SNAI expression by activating NF-κB or inhibiting GSK3β. PTEN is a negative regulator of this pathway. Increased levels of mTORC1 and mTORC2, two effectors of this pathway, are responsible for induced EMT, motility, and metastasis of CRC by activating RhoA and Rac1 signaling ⁶¹. Induced MET and increased sensitivity to chemotherapy drugs are reported upon knockdown of mTORC1 and mTORC2 ⁶¹.

There is a highly complex network of immune cells, inflammatory cytokines, hypoxia, epithelial and endothelial cells, and extracellular matrix components affecting the EMT process. For instance, hypoxia can induce EMT by activating the expression of TWIST1. IL-6 treatment of CRC cells leads to increased EMT, invasion, and metastasis by activating STAT3 and SNAI1⁶². Furthermore, other inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , IL-8 and CXCL-20, and TGF- β can induce the EMT program and invasiveness of CRC via activating different signaling pathways in the tumor microenvironment ^{63–65}.

1.2.1.2 EMT and drug resistance in colorectal cancer

Drug resistance is a common phenomenon happening in most cancers. Studies show that CRC cells under oxaliplatin treatment show resistance to this drug during the time. Cells in this stage

gain mesenchymal morphology and show changes in EMT markers like decreased E-cadherin and increased vimentin ⁶⁶. Studies of CRC patient samples have shown that overexpression of SNAI1 causes E-cadherin downregulation and vimentin upregulation. This overexpression also caused resistance to the 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy drug ⁶⁷.

Buck et al. reported a correlation between mesenchymal characteristics such as diminished Ecadherin and enhanced vimentin levels and resistance to EGFR blockade in human colorectal tumor tissues. In their study, tissue with more mesenchymal features was correlated with advanced tumor stages and resistance to therapy ⁶⁸.

Additionally, gene expression analysis showed that cetuximab treatment causes an increase in the expression levels of genes related to EMT. This study suggests that anti-EGFR treatment promotes EMT, which contributes to the resistance development to therapy ⁶⁹. Overexpression of C-terminal tensin-like (CTEN), an EMT-inducer factor, in CRC cell lines causes a reduction in levels of E-cadherin, an increase in tumor cell invasion, migration, and resistance to resistance to staurosporine-induced apoptosis ⁷⁰. Moreover, the clinical specimens from patients under chemotherapy show some molecular changes associated with EMT. For instance, it is investigated that E-cadherin loss is positively correlated with tumor growth, invasion, drug resistance, and metastasis to the liver in CRC patient samples ⁷¹. The exact mechanism behind EMT and drug resistance is not known yet. The EMT program leads to the generation of cells with cancer stem cell (CSC) properties. These cells are self-renewing with mechanisms such as effective DNA repair, high expression of multi-drug-resistance-type membrane transporters, and protection by a hypoxic niche environment. The

mentioned mechanisms make them efficiently resistant to chemotherapy regimens ⁷².

1.3 TBK1 gene

1.3.1 Structure and biological functions of TBK1

TBK1 is a non-canonical 84 KD serine/threonine kinase with 745 amino acids. This protein is compromised of four different domains, including a kinase domain (KD) at the N-terminal, a ubiquitin-like domain (ULD), an α -helical scaffold dimerization domain (SDD), and a C-terminal adaptor binding domain (CTD)⁷³. The phosphorylation site of TBK1 is ser-172 on the kinase domain ⁷⁴. The kinase domain plays a crucial role in the phosphorylation of different substrates.

9



Figure 2. Structure of TBK1 protein. A) Four domains in the Structure of TBK1 including: kinase domain (KD), ubiquitin-like domain (ULD), α-helical scaffold dimerization domain (SDD), nd a C-terminal adaptor binding domain (CTD). **B)** ser172 is the phosphorylation and activation site of TBK1. *Adapted from TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1): An emerging therapeutic target for drug discovery by Xiang et al., 2021*

There are significant numbers of proteins that interact with TBK1. These proteins have different functions and are divided into other groups ⁷⁵. The first group of proteins is those which help TBK1 to bind to the various upstream or downstream signaling pathway proteins, including TANK, NEMO, TRIF, MYD88, TRAF3, TRAF5, TRAF6, and STING ^{75–79}. These proteins are adaptor proteins. The second group of the proteins is regulators of post-translation of TBK1, such as kinases ⁸⁰, phosphatases ⁸¹, ubiquitin ligases ⁸², and histone deacetylases ⁸³. The last group of interacting proteins is the substrates which are phosphorylated by TBK1, including substrates in the interferon signaling pathway (IRF3, IRF7, STAT6) ^{80,84,85}, NF-κB signaling

pathway (IKK-α, IKK-β, TANK)⁸⁶, autophagy (OPTN, CYLD, RAB7)^{87,88} and proliferation (AKT, mTOR, PLK)^{89–92}.

1.3.2 TBK1 activation

Several factors can activate TBK1, such as bacterial infection, viral invasion, oncoproteins, and inflammatory cytokines. The innate immune system cells express various pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-1-like receptors (RLRs), and DNA receptors. With the help of these PRPs, the innate immune cells immediately recognize pathogen-associated molecules (PAMPs) such as viral DNA or RNA and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and activate different inflammatory responses ⁹³.

Human TLRs are divided into two different subgroups, cell surface TLRs (TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, TLR6, and TLR10) recognizing membrane-localized components of pathogens and endosomal TLRs (TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9) identifying cytosolic RNA/DNA. Most TLRs can stimulate MyD88-IRAK4-TRAF6, NF-κB, and TBK1 signaling pathways ⁷⁵. RLRs can detect non-self RNA in the cytoplasm. After binding to these RNAs, RLRs interact with MAVs in mitochondria. MAVs then activate the TBK1 pathway by recruiting adaptor proteins TANK, NAP1, and TBKBP1 ⁹⁴. Additionally, inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-17, and oncoproteins like KRAS can activate TBK1 in cancer cells ^{75,95}.

1.3.3 Signaling pathways of TBK1

TBK1 is a central protein regulating several signaling pathways. These pathways include immune responses and inflammation, autophagy, cell proliferation, apoptosis, and insulin metabolism ⁷⁵. TBK1 promotes innate immune responses and inflammation by inducing IRF3/IRF7, NF-κB, STAT3, and STAT6 pathways. TBK1 also regulates cellular proliferation and survival by activating AKT/mTORC1/2 and PLK1/CEP170 pathways. Moreover, it can regulate autophagy and insulin metabolism pathways ⁶³.

1.3.4 TBK1 and innate immune responses

The innate immune system invades bacterial and viral infections immediately and regulates the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines. In this system, TBK1 plays a regulatory role in activating the IRF pathway and the production of type-I interferons. In addition, TBK1 activates

11

the nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) signaling pathway, which plays a crucial role in different disorders such as cancer. The NF- κB family consists of a group of transcription factors that play vital roles in regulating inflammatory and immune responses, cell proliferation, and apoptosis. Active TBK1 also promotes innate immunity and inflammation by activating the STAT6 pathway.

1.3.4.1 TBK1 and IRF pathway

Recognition of viral double-strand RNA by TLR3 or LPS recognition by TLR4 recruits different adaptors such as TIR-domain-containing adaptor-inducing IFN- β (TRIF), tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 3 (TRAF3), Trif-related adaptor protein (TRAM), and stimulator of the IFN gene (STING) which causes the activation of TBK1. Once TBk1 is activated, it phosphorylates and activates IFN-regulatory factors 3 and 7 (IRF3 and IRF7). These activated proteins form homodimers, translocate to the nucleus, and trigger type-I IFN production and pro-inflammatory cytokines ^{96–98}. These signals are essential for immediate antiviral responses during infections. However, these signals might cause autoimmune diseases in the case of being constitutively active ⁹⁹.

1.3.4.2 TBK1 and NF-κB signaling pathway

The nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B) signaling pathway plays a crucial role in different disorders such as cancer. The NF- κ B family consists of transcription factors that play vital roles in regulating inflammatory and immune responses, cell proliferation, and apoptosis. NF- κ B family consists of five members, including ReIA (p65), Rel B, c-Rel, NF- κ B1 (p50), and NF- κ B2 (p52) ¹⁰⁰. In non-activated form, the NF- κ B proteins are bound to members of the inhibitor- κ B family (I κ B α , I κ B β , I κ B ϵ) and are localized in the cytoplasm. These inhibitor proteins block the nuclear localization of NF- κ B. Upon stimulation by different stimuli such as growth factors, phosphorylation of the I κ B family by I κ B kinases happen, which then leads to the degradation of I κ B and nuclear localization of NF- κ B where it regulates transcription of genes involved in inflammation, cell growth, cell survival, and apoptosis. There are two main groups of canonical kinases: IKK α , IKK β , and non-canonical kinases, including IKK ϵ and TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) in the inhibitor κ B kinases family. The kinase domain of TBK1 shares 65% similarity with the kinase domain of Ikkε; they also have similar biological functions ^{79,101}. TBK1 is expressed in all tissue, while IKKε is observed in high levels in peripheral blood lymphocytes and lymphoid tissues ¹⁰². TBK1 targets different members of NF-κB family members. RelA and c-Rel are phosphorylated by TBK1, independently of the classical IκB/Ikk pathway. Phosphorylation of c-Rel leads to the nuclear translocation of this transcription factor ¹⁰³. Therefore, IKK-related kinases play crucial roles in modulating inflammatory responses by regulating the NF-κB signaling pathway.

1.3.4.3 TBK1 and STAT3/6 pathway

In addition to the roles of TBK1 in IRF and NF-κB pathways, it can also regulate inflammatory responses via STAT3/6 pathways. Chen et al. showed that in responses to viral infections, STAT6 is phosphorylated by TBK1 on Ser407. Activated STAT6 translocates to the nucleus and induces chemokines such as CCL2/20/26, essential chemokines for recruiting immune cells to fight against viral infections ¹⁰⁴. Therefore, TBK1 is a critical protein in innate immune system responses against invading pathogens by regulating inflammation.

TBK1 also has roles in maintaining immune homeostasis by regulating functions of dendritic cells (DCs) and T-cell activation. TBK1 phosphorylates STAT3 in DCs and inhibits type I interferon responses. This inhibition prevents aberrant activation of T cells and autoimmunity ¹⁰⁵.

1.3.5 TBK1 and autophagy

Autophagy is a homeostatic process in which a cell degrades damaged or dysfunctional cellular organelles, components, and proteins. There are different physiological stimuli of autophagy, such as innate immune signals, hypoxia, and nutrient depletion ¹⁰⁶. Deregulated expression of autophagy is observed in various diseases, including cancer; however, the role of autophagy in cancer is complex. In the early stages of cancer, autophagy functions as a tumor-suppressor by limiting cell injury and inflammation, which are critical for tumor development ¹⁰⁷. It is also reported that autophagy is essential for tumor growth by helping tumor cells to tolerate metabolic stress caused by chemotherapy ¹⁰⁸.

There are defined many forms of autophagy, including mitophagy and xenopaghy. Mitophagy is the process of removing dysfunctional mitochondria, while xenophagy is defined as the removal of pathogens ^{109,110}. Studies have shown that TBK1 has a role in xenophagy. OPTN and p62 are

13

adaptor proteins that bind to the pathogens for rapid autophagic removal of them. TBK1 phosphorylates these proteins on their ubiquitin-binding domains ^{111–113}. This activation enhances its binding to the ubiquitin chain and leads to the elimination of invading pathogen by recruiting autophagic machinery ^{113,114}. Therefore, TBK1 plays an essential role in combating pathogens by linking inflammation and xenophagy.

1.3.6 TBK1 in the pathogenesis of human cancers

TBK1overexpression is observed in many types of cancers, including pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDA), non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), clear cell renal cell carcinoma (ccRCC), melanoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, and breast cancer ^{115–118}. TBK1 activation in these cancers is positively correlated with poor prognosis and disease development, especially in tumors with mutated KRAS/NRAS, which suggests that TBK1 plays a role as an oncogene in these tumors ^{117,119}. TBK1 can induce tumor generation and progression via different mechanisms, including activating intrinsic signaling pathways, inducing the production of tumorigenic cytokines, and generating an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment by inhibition of antitumor activities of the immune system ¹²⁰.

1.3.6.1 TBK1 activates intrinsic signaling pathways in tumor cells

TBK1 promotes cell survival and growth in cancer cells by activating different signaling pathways. Some of those pathways are AKT-mTOR1 ^{121,122}, NF-κB ^{123,124}, Autophagy ^{125,126}, Myc ¹²⁷, and JAK-STAT ^{128,129}.

It is observed that TBK1 is required for AKT oncogene-dependant signaling by directly phosphorylating and activating AKT on its canonical activation loop. Upon TBK1 ablation via pharmacologic inhibition or RNAi-mediated depletion, AKT activity, and cancer cell survival are impaired ¹²¹.

A recent study shows that TBK1 activation regulates mTORC1 activation and oncogenesis in lung cancer cells. Also, they showed that depletion of TBK1 causes tumorigenesis inhibition in the lung cancer mouse model. This study suggests a crucial role for TBK1 in tumor growth ¹²⁹. KRAS oncogene is mutated in a wide range of human cancers, primarily aggressive and non-responsive to the therapeutic approaches. Barbie et al. performed a comprehensive RNA interference on a wide range of human cancer cell lines and detected that TBK1 was an essential

gene in cells harboring KRAS mutations. Upon TBK1 inhibition, cell death and cell apoptosis were increased in KRAS mutant cells. They could find that TBK1 activates c-Rel and BCL-XL in these cells, which are NF- κ B anti-apoptotic proteins. So, this study suggested TBK1 and NF- κ B signaling as a critical pathway for cell survival ¹¹⁹.

The expression level of TBK1 is detected more in acute myeloid leukemia (AML) than the healthy hematopoietic cells. Increased apoptosis of AML cells was seen upon TBK1 pharmacological inhibition or shRNA knockdown, suggesting that these cells rely on TBK1 for survival. Studies indicated that TBK1 activates oncogenic gene regulator YB1 in AML cells, then YB1 binds to the Myc oncogene promoter in these cells and enhances its expression. TBK1 inhibition leads to reduction of Myc expression, viability, and tumorigenicity of AML cells. This suggests TBK1 as a potential therapeutic target for AML disease ¹²⁷.

Studies demonstrated a role for TBK1 in Ras-induced oncogenic transformation. RalB phosphorylates TBK1 in the Ras-like (Ral)-guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) pathway, which is necessary for Ras-induced transformation ^{130,131}. Upon activation, TBK1 assembles with exocyst, a multisubunit complex consisting of different secretory proteins, sec3, sec5, sec6, sec8, sec10, Exo70, and Exo84. TBK1 becomes a part of the exocyst complex via interaction with sec5. The exocyst is required to maintain the polarity of the cell membrane. Studies have shown the importance of membrane polarity in cell survival ¹³². Therefore, Ral proteins contribute to tumorigenesis via exocyst-dependant maintenance. ¹³³.

1.3.6.2 TBK1 promotes tumorigenic cytokine production

In addition to the role of TBK1 in the mentioned pathways, TBK1 can also promote the production of cytokines which play essential roles in tumorigenicity. In a study on KRAS-driven lung cancer (NSCLC), cytokines CCL5 and IL-6 are reported to be highly active. In this study, it is detected that TBK1 regulates CCL5 production. CCL5 could rescue TBK1 depleted mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) clonogenic ability. These cytokines can activate the JAK-STAT signaling pathway, which induces IL-6 production and lung cancer cell proliferation ¹³⁴. Korher et al. suggested that TBK1 is expressed in many solid tumors under hypoxia conditions. They indicated that TBK1 induces the production of some factors such as RANTES or IL-8, which are essential for the proliferation of epithelial cells. The production of these factors resembles the angiogenesis mechanism in tumor cells. Impaired angiogenesis mechanism in these cells is also

15

observed upon TBK1 inhibition. Thus, this study makes TBK1 a promising target for cancer treatment ¹³⁵.

1.3.6.3 TBK1 generates an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment

The induction of intrinsic signaling pathways and production of tumorigenic immunosuppressive cytokines are not the only mechanisms of TBK1 for tumor promotion. TBK1 increases tumor proliferation and survival by attenuating antitumor functions of the immune system in the tumor microenvironment. Upregulation of immune checkpoint ligands like programmed cell death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) and preserving immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment are the mechanisms of TBK1 to help tumor progression ¹²⁹.

Interferon-inducible 16 (IFI16) is expressed in high levels in papilloma-positive cervical cancer cells, promoting cancer development. High levels of IFI16 activate the STING-TBK1 pathway and subsequently activate NF- κ B pathway, which induces PD-L1 expression ¹³⁶. Jiang et al. reported that high levels of TBK1 in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) are associated with poor prognostic tumors. They could also show that high levels of TBK1 are correlated with fewer tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells. Moreover, TBK1 inhibition has increased the number of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T cells ¹¹⁶.

1.3.6.4 TBK1 is a tumor-suppressive gene in intestinal tumors

Although it is shown that TBK1 has an oncogenic role in most cancer types, there are studies suggesting tumor-suppressive functions for this kinase protein. A recent study reported that TBK1 depletion in intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) increases the production of NF- κ B-mediated metallothionein 1 (MT1). MT1 is an immune modulator that induces IL-1 β secretion, facilitating TH17 cell differentiation. These cells produce IL-17 which is an essential cytokine for tumor growth promotion. In the same study, they could show a positive correlation between high expression levels of TBK1 and improved overall survival in colorectal cancer patients. Moreover, increased expression of MT1 and IL-17 is correlated with poor survival in colorectal cancer patients. Therefore, this study suggests TBK1 as a regulator of the immune system and tumor formation in colon ¹³⁷.

1.4 Aim of the study

Considering the roles of TBK1 in different cancer types, we aimed to study the roles of TBK1 in colorectal cancer and drug resistance development. To address this question, TBK1 loss of function cell lines were generated via lentivirus system, and the effect of TBK1 loss on colorectal cancer and drug resistance development were characterized *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Moreover, our group previously showed that IKKε depletion in some colorectal cancer cell lines leads to increased cell proliferation. Since IKKε and TBK1 are members of the same family (non-canonical IκB kinase), we also wondered if there are any redundant or additive roles for TBK1 and IKKε in colorectal cancer development.

CHAPTER 2

Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

The materials used in this study are listed below.

2.1.1 Chemicals

Table 1. Chemicals used in this study.

Product Name	Catalog Number	Company
Ethanol	32221	Sigma Aldrich
Methanol	24229	Sigma Aldrich
2-propanol	100995	Sigma Aldrich
Glycine	GLN001.1	Bioshop Canada
Glycerol	15524	Sigma Aldrich
Tween20	777	Ambresco
EDTA	E-5134	Sigma Aldrich
Trizma base	T1503	Sigma
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	822050	Merck
Bovine Serum Albumin	sc-2323	Santa Cruz
TEMED	1610801	BioRad
Sodium chloride	S9888	Sigma Aldrich
Ammonium Persulfate	7727-54-0	Sigma Aldrich
(APS)		
DMSO	67-68-5	Applicam
Trichloroactic acid	SE3691003	Serva

2-Mercaptoethanol	M3148	Sigma Aldrich		
40% Acrylamide/Bis	1610148	BioRad		
solution				
Hydrochloric acid	100317	Merck		
NaOH	106.462	Merck		
Page Ruler Prestained	26616	Thermo Scientific		
Protein Ladder				
Bromophenol Blue	B0126	Sigma Aldrich		
Sodium Azide	S2002-5G	Sigma Aldrich		
Triton x-100	T8787	Sigma Aldrich		
Propodium iodide (PI)	P4170	Sigma Aldrich		
Ribonuclease A	P6513	Sigma Aldrich		

2.1.2 Reagents

Table 2. Reagents used in this study.

Product Name	Catalog Number	Company	
cOmplete Protease Inhibitor	11697498001	Roche	
Cocktail			
CellTiter-Glo 3D Cell	9682	Promega	
Viability Assay			
Sulforhodamine B (SRB)	A14769.14	Alfa Aesar	
sodium salt			
Transfectin TM lipid Reagent	1703351	Bio-Rad	
Lipofectamine TM 2000	11668027	Invitrogen	
transfection reagent			
Pierce ECL Western	LSG-32106	Thermo Scientific	
Blotting Substrate			

SuperSignal West Femto	34094	Thermo Scientific
Maximum Sensitivity		
Substrate		
Pierce Western Blotting	LSG-34577	Thermo Scientific
Substrate-Super Signal West		
pico Plus		

2.1.3 Cell culture media, chemicals, and solutions

Product Name	Catalog Number	Company
RPMI 1640 w/stable L-	L0498-500	Biowest
Glutamine		
Mccoy's 5A w/ L-	L0210-500	Biowest
Glutamine		
DMEM Low Glucose	L0064-500	Biowest
DMEM High Glucose	B.L0106-500	Biowest
Fetal Bovine Serum Heat	S181H-500	Biowest
Inactivated		
Phosphate Buffered Saline	P04-53500	PAN_Biotech
10X		
L-Glutamine	G7513-100ml	Sigma Aldrich
Pen-Strep	DE17-602E	Lonza
Trypsine-EDTA 10X	X0930-100	Biowest
Puromycine	Ant-pr-1	Invivogen
Polybrene (10mg/ml)	Sc-134220	SantaCruz
Opti-MEM I	31985-070	Gibco
Gefitinib	sc-202166	SantaCruz

Table 3. Cell culture media, chemicals, and solutions used in this study.

2.1.4 Buffers

Table 4. Buffers used in this study.

Buffer Name	Contents
Cell Lysis Buffer 2X	25mL 1M Hepes, 30 mL 5M NaCl, 5mL Triton-X100,
	100mL Glycerol, 340 mL ddH ₂ O
Cell Lysis Buffer 1X	5mL cell lysis Buffer 2X, 500 µL NaF, 500 µL Na ₃ VO ₄ ,
	500 μ L β -Glycerophosphate, 500 μ L cOmplete protease
	inhibitor, up to 10 mL ddH ₂ O
10X Running Buffer	144g Glycine, 10g SDS, 30.2g Tris-Base, up to 1L ddH ₂ O
10X Transfer Buffer	144g Glycine, 30.2g Tris-Base, up to 1L ddH ₂ O
10X TBS_T	24.2g Tris-Base, 80g NaCl, pH=7.6, 20mL Tween, up to
	1L ddH ₂ O
Stacking Gel	0.6mL Acrylamide/Bis solution, 3mL ddH2O, 625µL 1M
	Tris pH=6.8, 125µL 0.25M EDTA, 100µL 10% SDS,
	60µL 10% APS, 10µL TEMED
Separating Gel 8%	3.2mL Acrylamide/Bis solution, 5.8mL ddH ₂ O, 1.5mL
	Glycerol, 3.75mL 1.5M Tris pH=8.8, 375µL 0.25M
	EDTA, 300µL 10% SDS, 125µL 10% APS, 15µL TEMED
4X Protein Loading Dye	12.5mL 1M Tris-HCl pH=6.8, 5g SDS, 5mL β-
	mercaptoethanol, 20mL Glycerol, 0.008% Bromophenol
	Blue
Ponceu S	0.4g ponceu S, 20mL Acetic Acid, up to 400mL ddH2O
Mild Stripping Buffer	3g Glycine, 0.2g SDS, pH=2.5, 20mL Tween, up to 200mL
	ddH ₂ O
0.5% Crystal Violet	0.5g Crystal Violet, 25mL methanol, 75mL ddH2O
10X Phosphate Buffer	17.02g Na ₂ HPO ₄ , 80g NaCl, 2g KCl, 2g KH ₂ PO ₄ , up to 1L
Saline (PBS)	ddH_2O , pH= 6.87
50X TAE Buffer	242g Tris-Base, 57.1mL Acetic Acid, 100mL 0.5M EDTA,
	ut to 1L ddH ₂ O

LB Broth	10g NaCl, 5g Yeast Extract, 10g Tryptone
2X HBSS	0.1081g 12mM Dextrose (D-glucose), 2.8mL 5M NaCl,
	5mL 10X Na ₂ HPO ₄ (10X: 0.1335g in 50mL), 2mL 250mM
	KCl, up to 50mL ddH ₂ O, pH= 7.01

2.1.5 Kits

 Table 5. Kits used in this study.

Product Name	Catalog Number	Company
Pierce BCA Protein Assay	LSG-2322	Thermo Scientific
Kit		
E.Z.N.A Plasmid DNA Mini	D6922-02	Omega Bio-Tek
Kit		
Mycoplasma PCR Detection	G238	ABM
Kit		

2.1.6 Antibodies

Table 6. Antibodies used in this study.

Product Name	Catalog Number	Company
E-cadherin	Sc-8426	Santa Cruz
N-cadherin	14215	Cell Signaling
Vimentin	5741	Cell Signaling
Alpha smoot muscle actin	Ab5684	Abcam
(a-SMA)		
Integrin- $\alpha 5$	4705	Cell Signaling
Zo-1	13663	Cell Signaling
TBK1/NAK	3013	Cell Signaling
Ikke	3416	Cell Signaling
Phospho-AKT	4060	Cell Signaling

Total-AKT	9272	Cell Signaling
Phospho-ERK	4370	Cell Signaling
Total-ERK	9102	Cell Signaling
Cleaved Caspase-3	9664	Cell Signaling
GAPDH	Sc-47724	Santa Cruz
Monoclonal anti-a Tubulin	T5168	Sigma Aldrich
Anti-rabbit IgG HRP-linked	7074	Cell Signaling
Anti-mouse IgG HRP-	7079	Cell Signaling
linked		

2.1.7 Consumables

 Table 7. Consumables used in this study.

Product Name	Catalog Number	Company
1000uL tips	GR740290	Greiner
200uL tips	GR739290	Greiner
10uL tips	4840	Corning
1000uL filter tips	740288	Greiner
200uL filter tips	739288	Greiner
20uL filter tips	774288	Greiner
10uL filter tips	F161630	Greiner
Gel-loading tips	14-222-809	Axygen
5mL serological pipette	4487	Corning
10mL serological pipette	4488	Corning
25mL serological pipette	4489	Corning
1.5mL Reaction Tube	3621	Corning
1.5mL SafeLock Tube	30120086	Eppendorf
2mL Reaction Tube	430659	Corning
15mL falcon tube	188271	Greiner
15mL falcon tube	62.554.502-500	Sarstedt
50mL falcon tube	227261	Greiner

50mL falcon tube	62.547.254-300	Sarstedt
145mm tissue culture dish	639160	Greiner
100mm tissue culture dish	664160	Greiner
60mm tissue culture dish	628160	Greiner
175cm tissue culture flask	660175	Corning
75cm tissue culture flask	658175	Corning
25cm tissue culture flask	690175	Corning
6-well plate	657160	Greiner
12-well plate	665180	Greiner
24-well plate	662160	Greiner
96-well plate	655180	Greiner
Cryovials	121263	Greiner
PVDF membrane, 0.45	L-08025-001	Advansta
0.45µm filter	16555	Sartorious
0.20µm filter	16534	Sartorious

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cell Maintenance

DLD1 and HCT116 cells were kept in Mccoy's 5A growth medium supplemented with 5% and 8% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), respectively, 1% L-Glutamine, and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin. HT29 cells were maintained in DMEM low Glucose with 1% L-Glutamine and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin. The growth medium was changed every 2-3 days, and they were passaged when they reached 80-90% confluency with a 1:5 ratio. All of the cell lines were kept at 37^oC, 5%CO₂ incubators.

2.2.2 Cryopreservation of Cells

After removing the old medium, cells were washed with 1X PBS solution. Then, the cells were trypsinized and incubated in 37°C incubators for 2-3 minutes. After collecting the cells, they were centrifuged at 300 g for 5 minutes at +4°C. The medium was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in a freezing medium consisting of 90% FBS and 10% DMSO with a maximum density of 1-2 million cells. 1.5mL of the freezing medium was added to each cryovial and placed in Mr. Frosty Cell Freezing Container and put at -80°C for short-term storage. For long-term storage, the cells were placed in liquid nitrogen.

2.2.3 Thawing Cells

The Cryovial of the cells was thawed rapidly at 37 °C water bath. The cryovial was opened before the cells completely thaw, and a fresh growth medium was added to the drop-by-drop cells. Then the medium containing cells were transferred to a 15mL falcon tube and centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes. Then the supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in the complete growth medium and placed at the appropriate cell culture flask or dish.

2.2.4 PCR-based Mycoplasma test

The cells were kept in cell culture at least 48-72 hours before the test. 500μ L of cell culture medium was taken and centrifuged at 13000rpm for 5 minutes to pellet the cells. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and centrifuged at 13000rpm for 20 minutes. After centrifugation, 450μ L of the supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in the remaining 50μ L, which was considered as a test sample. The PCR Reaction was set as shown in the table below.

Component	Test sample	Positive control	Negative control
2X PCR Taq	12.5µL	12.5µL	12.5µL
MasterMix			
Primer Mix	1µL	1µL	1µL
Test Sample	2.5µL	-	-

 Table 8. Reaction mixture of PCR-based mycoplasma test.

Positive Control	-	1µL	-
Nuclease-free H ₂ O	9μL	10.5µL	11.5µL
Final Volume	25µL	25µL	25µL

The Reaction tubes were placed at the thermocycler and Polymerase Chain The reaction program was performed as follows:

Table 9.	Conditions	of PCR	test for	mycop	lasma
----------	------------	--------	----------	-------	-------

Step	Tempreature	Duration	Cycles
Enzyme Activation	95°C	5 mins	-
Denaturation	95°C	30 secs	30-40
Annealing	55°C	30 secs	30-40
Extension	72°C	60 secs	30-40
Final Extension	72°C	10 mins	1
Holding	4°C	-	-

The amplified product was resolved by running at 1% agarose gel electrophoresis (120 V, 30 minutes).

2.2.5 Enzyme-based Mycoplasma test

For this test, 500μ L of the medium was taken from the cell plate and then centrifuged at 13000rpm for 5 minutes. Then 100 μ L was taken from the supernatant and added to a 96-well white plate. 100 μ L reactant from the kit was added on top of the medium, and luminescence was read.

By Synergy HT Microplate Reader (Read A) after 5 minutes incubation. Then 100µL substrate from the same kit was added on top. After 10 minutes of incubation, the luminescence was read again (Read B). The results were interpreted as below:

Read A/ Read B: If: < 0.9: Negative

If: 0.9-1.1: Measure again If: >1.2: Positive
2.2.6 Lentiviral shRNA Transfection and Transduction

Approximately 1X10⁶ of HEK293T cells were seeded in a 6-cm cell culture dish in DMEM High Glucose medium supplemented with 8% FBS. The cells were transfected the next day when the confluency was 70-80%. Plasmids containing shRNA targeting the gene of interest and packaging plasmids for the generation of lentiviral particles were mixed with CaCl₂ and ddH₂O. Then this mixture was added dropwise to 2X HBSS while vortexing. Then the mixture was incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes and added dropwise on top of the HEK293T cells, and then the dish was shaken gently. Sixteen hours post-transfection, the medium of HEK293T cells was removed and fresh growth medium was added to the cells, and they were incubated at 37°C incubator.

Component	Amount
shRNA plasmids	9µg
VSVG packaging plasmid	3µg
R891 packaging plasmid	бµд
2M CaCl ₂	38µL
2X HBSS	300µL
ddH ₂ O	Up to 600µL

Table 10. Components used in lentiviral transfection

Medium of the transfected HEK293T cells containing the virus was collected 48 hours posttransfection. The collected media was centrifuged at maximum speed for 10 minutes to remove cell debris, filtered through a 0.45µm filter, and added to the recipient cells with 5g/mL Polybrene to increase transduction efficiency. Cells were incubated for 48 hours, and then the medium was changed. Transduced cells were gone under selection by keeping them in a medium containing puromycine.

2.2.7 siRNA Transfection

Approximately 25×10^4 cells per well of a 6-well dish were seeded. The following day a mixture of 100μ M siRNA and OptiMEM was prepared, and HiPerfect reagent was added to the mixture. The mixture was added to the seeded cells. Six hours post-transfection, 800μ L of the growth medium was added on top of the cells. Twenty-four hours post-transfection, cells were collected to isolate protein and RNA samples.

2.2.8 Generation of Gefitinib-Resistant DLD1 Cells

To generate Gefitinib resistant cell line, first, the IC₅₀ value of wild-type DLD1 cells was determined (IC₅₀=10.36 μ M). Then generation of Gefitinib-resistant DLD1 cells was started by adding 9 μ M of Gefitinib to the wild-type cells. Then these cells were grown in a complete cell growth medium and exposed continuously to increasing doses of Gefitinib. The Gefitinib concentration was increased by eighter 0.5 μ M or 1 μ M every three passages. Once their IC₅₀ value became at least two times more than wild-type parental cells' IC₅₀ value, they were considered resistant.

2.2.9 Determination of Gefitinib IC₅₀

DLD1, HT29, and HCT116 cells were seeded at a 96-well plate in a number that reached 60-70% confluency the next day. Cells were treated with different concentrations of Gefitinib the following day and incubated at 37° C incubator for 72 hours. At the end of 72 hours, cell viability was measured by the SRB method. The IC₅₀ value, which is the amount of the drug that kills 50% of the cells, was determined using GraphPad Prism Program.

2.2.10 Cell-Titer Glo Luminescent Cell Viability Assay

Cell-Titer Glo Luminescent cell Viability Assay aimed to determine the proliferation rate of the cells. The cells were seeded at a 96-well plate and grown with a complete growth medium for 3-4 days. Cells were lysed every day by adding CTG reagent to each well and shaking for 15 minutes at RT. Cell lysates were transferred to a white opaque 96-well plate. Then luminescence reading was performed by Synergy HT Microplate Reader.

2.2.11 Sulforhadamine B (SRB) assay

Sulforhadamine B (SRB) Assay was performed to assess cell growth upon Gefitinib treatment. 72 hours after the drug treatment, the old medium was removed, and 120μ L fresh growth medium was added to each well. Then 80μ L of 25% TCA was added on top of the cells to fix them, and the plate was incubated at +4°C for at least 1 hour. The TCA was removed after the incubation time, and the wells were washed five times with water. After completely removing water, 50μ L of SRB was added to each well and incubated for 30 minutes at dark to stain the cells. Then the wells were washed with 1% Acetic Acid solution, and the plate was left to be dried under a fume hood. When it was dried entirely, 150μ L 10mM tris-base was added to each well to destain. The absorbance was read by Synergy HT Microplate Reader.

2.2.12 Colony Formation Assay

The cells were seeded in 6-well or 12-well plates in a minimal number. The plate was kept at 37°C incubator for approximately 10-14 days. When the single cells formed colonies before the colonies merged, the experiment was finalized by Crystal Violet staining. After removing the old medium, the cells were washed with 1X PBS and then fixed on ice-cold 100% methanol at -20°C for 10 minutes. After incubation time, methanol was discarded, and the cells were incubated with 0.5% Crystal Violet at RT to be stained. Then Crystal Violet was discarded, and the plates were washed five times with water to remove the excess dye. Then the plates were dried at RT. The colony numbers were quantified by ImageJ software.

2.2.13 Wound Healing Assay

DLD1 and HT29 cells were seeded at a 24-well plate to reach 90% confluency the following day. The next day, the scratch was made using a 200µL tip. The plate was washed with 1X PBS 3-4 times to remove all dead cells. Then fresh growing medium containing 0.5% or 5% FBS was added to each well of DLD1 or HT29 cells, respectively, to slow down cell growth and let the cells migrate and fill the gap. At different time points (0h, 48h for DLD1 and 0h, 72h for HT29), the pictures were taken by Leica MC120 microscope. Analysis of the images was performed using TScratch software.

2.2.14 Transwell Migration Assay

A Transwell migration assay was performed to assess the migration ability of HCT116 cells. For this purpose, HCT116 cells were starved 24 hours before seeding. The next day, cells were seeded in the upper chamber in a medium with 0% FBS, and a medium with 20% FBS was added to the lower chamber. 48 hours post-seeding cells in the upper chamber were fixed with methanol and stained with Giemsa. The number of migrated cells through the chamber was quantified by ImageJ software.

2.2.15 Transwell Invasion Assay

Transwell invasion assay was conducted to assess the invasion ability of the cells. Starved DLD1 and HT29 cells were seeded with 0% FBS medium in the upper chamber of the transwell plate precoated with matrigel. Medium containing 20% FBS was added to the lower chamber. The chambers were stained with Giemsa 72 hours after the seeding. The number of invaded cells through the chamber was quantified by ImageJ software.

2.2.16 Protein Extraction from Cultured Cells

Cells at their 70% confluent and healthy status were taken out from the incubator and put on ice. After removing the old medium, cells were washed with 1X PBS. Then the cells were collected in 1X PBS by a scrapper and transferred to a 1.5mL Eppendorf tube. The tubes were centrifuged at 13000rpm for 10 minutes at +4°C. The supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in RIPA Cell Lysis Buffer for protein samples. The samples were incubated on ice for 30 minutes by vortexing them every 10 minutes. Then they were centrifuged at 13000rpm for 15 minutes. The supernatant was transferred to a new fresh Eppendorf tube and kept at -80°C.

2.2.17 Protein Quantification

Protein quantification was performed using the Pierce BCA protein assay kit. 2mg/ml BSA protein was diluted 20X with ddH₂O. The standards were prepared with different concentrations, as shown in Table 11.

Concentration(µg/µL)	BSA(μL)	ddH ₂ O(µL)
0	0	400
1	40	260
2	80	320
3	120	280
4	160	240
5	200	200
7	280	120
10	400	0

Table 11. Protein quantification standards.

100 μ L of each standard was added to each well of a 96-well plate as triplicates. Protein samples to be measured were diluted as 1:100 by ddH₂O (4 μ L samples + 396 μ L ddH₂O) and loaded to each well. BCA reagent mixture was prepared according to the kit protocol (Reagent A+ Reagent B 1:50 ratio). 100 μ L of the reagent was added on top of each well. Then the plate was incubated at 60°C for 50 minutes. The absorbance reading was performed by Synergy HT Microplate Reader at 562nm. Then the samples were mixed with 4X Loading dye and boiled at 75°C for 10 minutes.

2.2.18 Western Blotting

The Stacking and Separating gels were prepared according to the protocol mentioned in the Materials section. Equal amounts of boiled proteins were loaded onto the stacking gel and run at 120V for 110 minutes. Then the proteins were transferred to the PVDF membrane by a wet transfer system. After transfer, the membrane was blocked in 10% milk for 30 minutes while shaking and washed with 1X TBST twice for 10 minutes. Then the membranes were incubated with primary antibody overnight at +4°C and washed with 1X TBST three times for 10 minutes. Next, they were incubated at HRP labeled secondary antibody and washed with 1X TBST for 30 minutes. Pierce ECL Western Blotting Substrates were used to reveal the membrane in Amersham Imager 600.

2.2.19 Generating Xenograft Mice Models

The cells were collected by trypsin and washed with 1X cold PBS. Then they were counted and prepared as $4x10^{6}$ cells/200µL in 1X cold PBS. Then a subcutaneous injection of the cells was performed in two flanks of 8 weeks old athymic nude mice provided by the animal facility of the Bilkent University, Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics. Ethical permission from the local ethics committee was taken before the injections. Once the subcutaneous tumor volumes reached 4-5 mm³, the volumes were measured by a caliper and calculated as LxW² (L: length, W: width). When tumor volumes reached 1000 mm³, the mice were sacrificed. The tumors were collected, RNA and protein samples were taken and kept at -80°C and the remaining tumors were fixed in 4% PFA and sent for histopathological analysis.

CHAPTER 3

Results

3.1 The expression level of TBK1 was detected in CRC cell lines.

To determine the cell lines used in the experiments, we first analyzed the expression level of TBK1 of CRC cell lines available in our laboratory. HT29, DLD1, and HCT116 cell lines were selected for the experiments since TBK1 has the highest expression level in these cell lines (Figure 3). TBK1 protein was depleted in the mentioned cell lines by lentiviral shRNA transfection.



Figure 3. The expression level of TBK1 in CRC cell lines. The expression level of TBK1 was measured in six different CRC cell lines by Western Blotting. β-Actin is used as a loading control.

3.2 Cell proliferation and colony formation are enhanced upon TBK1 depletion in colorectal cancer cell lines.

The cell proliferation of shRNA TBK1 depleted CRC cell lines is measured by Cell-Titer Glo Luminescent cell viability over 3-4 days by measuring the concentration of ATP in viable cells. We could show that cell growth is significantly enhanced upon TBK1 depletion in DLD1 (Figure 4A), HT29 (Figure 4B), and HCT116 (Figure 4C).



Figure 4. Cell proliferation is enhanced upon TBK1 depletion in CRC cell lines. Cell proliferation is measured in shRNA TBK1 cells by Cell-Titer Glo Luminescent cell viability assay over 4 days. **A**) DLD1 shTBK1. **B**) HT29 shTBK1. **C**) HCT116 shTBK1. Expression levels of pAKT and pERK are analyzed by western Blotting in **D**) DLD1 shTBK1, **E**) HT29 shTBK1, **F**) HCT116 shTBK1 cell lines. Data shown here are the mean \pm SEM of biological triplicates for each construct. Each experiment is repeated twice. (unpaired t-test, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001.)

Additionally, AKT and ERK phosphorylation levels which are markers of cell viability, are also increased upon TBK1 depletion in the mentioned cell lines (Figure 4D, E,F).

Moreover, the colony-forming ability of CRC cell lines is measured upon TBK1 depletion. For this purpose, the shTBK1 CRC cells were seeded in low numbers in 12-well or 6-well plates to grow as single cells and make colonies. The growth of seeded cells was followed for approximately 10-14 days. Once the colonies were formed and reached a specific size, the wells were stained with 0.5% crystal violet, and the experiment was finalized. Colony numbers are quantified by ImageJ software. In this experiment, we could show that TBK1 depleted DLD1 (Figure 5A), HT29 (Figure 5B), and HCT116 (Figure 5C) can form more and larger colonies than the control cells. Finally, we concluded that TBK1 depletion increases cell growth in CRC cell lines *in vitro*.









Figure 5. TBK1 inhibits single cells from forming colonies in CRC cell lines. Colony formation assay is conducted to assess the colony formation ability of TBK1 depleted cells compared to the control cells. A) DLD1 shTBK1 B) HT29 shTBK1 C) HCT116 shTBK1.The growth of colonies from single cells was followed for approximately 10-14 days. Once the colonies reached a certain size, the experiment was finalized by staining the plates with 0.5% Crystal Violet dye. Data shown here are the mean \pm SEM of biological triplicates for each construct. Each experiment is repeated twice. (unpaired t-test, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001.)

3.3 Xenograft models of shRNA TBK1 DLD1 cell line showed promoted tumor growth.

We injected shRNA TBK1 DLD1 cell lines subcutaneously to the flanks of athymic nude mice to show the role of TBK1 in cell growth *in vivo*. Once the tumors reached a certain size after the injection, we started to measure tumor size. We followed the tumor growth for approximately 25 days after the injection. When the tumor volumes reached around 1000mm³, we finalized the experiment (Figure 6A, B). Moreover, weight of the tumors were measured (Figure 6 C). The expression level of TBK1 was measured by western blotting at the starting and the end point of the experiment (Figure 6D).

In this experiment, we could show that TBK1 depletion leads to an increase in the growth of tumors *in vivo* since xenografts of TBK1 depleted cell line could form more extensive tumors compared to the control mice.

A







3.4 Loss of TBK1 has increased the migration of colorectal cancer cell lines.

To assess the role of TBK1 in the migration of CRC cell lines, we firstly performed a Wound healing assay on the DLD1 shTBK1 cell line. For this experiment, we seeded the cells, and when they reached confluency around 90%, we generated a gap between the cells. The gap pictures were taken at the beginning (0 h). Then the photos were also taken 48 hours after the generation

of the gap before it closes. The percentage of the open area was quantified by T-scratch software, and the migratory ability of TBK1 depleted cells was compared to the control cells. Representative pictures are shown in Figures 7A and B. As shown in the figures, the loss of TBK1 in DLD1 and HT29 cell lines has led to a promotion in the migration of the cells. Transwell migration assay is also performed for shRNA TBK1 HCT116 cell line to evaluate the role of TBK1 in the migration of CRC *in vitro*. Cells were incubated in 0% FBS medium overnight. The following day cells were seeded on the 0.8µm chambers in serum-free medium. Medium with 20% serum was used as an attractant. 24 hours after seeding, the experiment was finalized by staining the outer surface of chamber with Giemsa dye. Pictures of the migrated cells on the outer surface of the chambers were taken with Leica microscope (Figure 7C). As shown in Figure 7, TBK1 depletion has enhanced the migration ability of HCT116 cells.





B

Day 1

Day 3

*

Γ ***



Figure 7. Migration of CRC cell lines is negatively correlated with TBK1. Wound healing assay of A) shRNA TBK1 DLD1 cell line B) shRNA TBK1 HT29 cell line . C) Transwell migration assay of shRNA TBK1 HCT116 cell line. TBK1 depletion led to an increase in the migration of CRC cell lines. Data shown here are mean \pm SEM of biological triplicates for each construct. Each experiment is repeated twice. (unpaired t-test, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001.)

3.5 Invasion of colorectal cancer cell lines is promoted upon TBK1 depletion.

Since we could show TBK1 is negatively correlating the migration of colorectal cancer cell lines, we decided to evaluate the effect of TBK1 on the invasion of colorectal cancer cell lines. For this experiment, the starved shRNA TBK1 DLD1 and HCT116 cells were seeded on matrigel-coated transwell chambers with medium containing 0% FBS. Medium with 20% FBS was added to the lower chamber as an attractant. 48 hours later, the chambers were stained with Giemsa dye.

Pictures of the invaded DLD1 (Figure 8A) and HCT116 (Figure 8B) cells on the membrane's outer surface were taken with Leica microscope.



Figure 8. TBK1 depleted colorectal cancer cell lines invaded more compared to the control cells. Transwell invasion assay was performed to asses the invasion of **A**) shRNA TBK1 DLD1 **B**) shRNA TBK1 HCT116 cell lines. Data shown here are mean ± SEM of biological triplicates for each construct. Each experiment is repeated twice.

3.6 Absence of TBK1 induced epithelial to mesenchymal (EMT) in colorectal cancer cell lines.

After evaluating the role of TBK1 in cell growth and migration of CRC, we wondered if TBK1 has a role in the EMT process in colorectal cancer. In the DLD1 CRC cell line, upon TBK1 depletion, an increase was seen in some mesenchymal markers such as vimentin, integrin- α , and α -SMA, while some epithelial markers were shown to be decreased, including E-cadherin at protein level (Figure 9A). Similarly, in the siRNA TBK1 DLD1 cell line EMT process was induced by upregulation of integrin- α , and α -SMA and downregulation of E-cadherin (Figure 9B). An increase in some mesenchymal markers such as vimentin and a decrease in E-cadherin was also seen in shRNA TBK1 HT29 cells (Figure 9C). Additionally, in shRNA TBK1 HCT116 cell line expression of mesenchymal markers, integrin- α , and α -SMA was induced. In this cell line, a decrease in ZO-1, an epithelial marker, was observed (Figure 9D).



B







3.7 TBK1 depletion makes colorectal cancer cell lines resistant to Gefitinib.

Considering the role of TBK1 in the proliferation and EMT of the colorectal cancer cell line, we questioned if it has any role in Gefitinib resistance. For this purpose, we treated colorectal cancer cell lines with wide ranges of Gefitinib for 72 hours. Then we measured the cell viability by Sulforhadamine B (SRB) assay. The IC₅₀ value was determined by GraphPad prism. A trend of resistance to Gefitinib was seen in shRNA TBK1 DLD1 (Figure 10A), HT29 (Figure 10B), and HCT116 (Figure 10C) cell lines.



Line									
Constructs	shCT	shTBK1-1	shTBK1-2	shCT	shTBK1-1	shTBK1-2	shCT	shTBK1-1	shTBK1-2
IC ₅₀ value	7,68	9,39	10,28	9,63	11,41	12,62	10,56	12,65	12,04
p-value	0,0016		0,0038		0,0311				

Figure 10. TBK1 depleted colorectal cancer cell lines are more resistant to Gefitinib than control cells. A) shRNA TBk1 DLD1 B) shRNA TBK1 HT29 C) shRNA TBK1 HCT116 cells are treated with different concentrations of Gefitinib for 72 hours. Cell viability is measured by Sulforhadamine B (SRB) assay. Data shown here are the mean \pm SEM of biological triplicates for each construct. Each experiment is repeated twice. (Ftest, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001.)

3.8 Generation of Gefitinib resistant DLD1 colorectal cancer cell line.

To generate a Gefitinib-resistant DLD1 cell line, the Gefitinib IC_{50} value of naive DLD1 cells was measured. As shown in Figure 11A, the Gefitinib IC_{50} value of naive DLD1 is approximately 10-11µM. Then generation of Gefitinib resistant DLD1 cells was started by exposing the cells to increasing doses of Gefitinib. The starting dose was 9µM, slightly less than the Gefitinib IC_{50} value of naive DLD1 cells. During this process, the cells were maintained in a specific concentration of Gefitinib and passaged three times. After the third passage, the cells surviving in that particular concentration of Gefitinib were exposed to an increased dose of Gefitinib by either 0.5μ M or 1μ M. At the end of this process, a Gefitinib-resistant DLD1 cell line was generated.

Additionally, control cells were kept in DMSO. The amount of DMSO was equal to the Gefitinib for resistant cells. A schematic representation of the generation of Gef-DLD1 cells is shown in Figure 11B.



Figure 11. Generation of Gefitinib Resistant DLD1 cells. A) Gefitinib IC₅₀ value of naive DLD1 cells. **B)** Generation of Gefitinib resistant DLD1 cells was started by exposing naive DLD1 cells with a concentration of Gefitinib less than the Gefitinib IC₅₀ value of those cells. Cells were exposed to increasing concentrations of Gefitinib every three passages. At the end of this process, Gef-DLD1 cells were generated.

After approximately 14 months of Gefitinib treatment, a significant increase in the IC_{50} value of Gef-DLD1 cells was observed compared to the DMSO-DLD1 cells (Figure 12). Since our Gef-DLD1 cells could not survive in the higher concentrations of Gefitinib, we decided to perform our experiments on the cells growing in the medium containing 30µM Gefitinib.



Figure 12. Determination of Gefitinib IC₅₀ value of Gef-DLD1 and control cells.

Gefitinib IC₅₀ value of Gef-DLD1 cells is measured 14 months after starting the process. (F-test, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001.)

3.9 During the time, morphology and expression levels of EMT markers of the Gefitinib resistant DLD1 cells were changed compared to the control cells.

Gef-DLD1 cell morphology was observed and recorded during the time. The morphology of the DMSO-DLD1 cells was similar to the naive DLD1 cells, while the Gef-DLD1 cells had different morphology. When our resistant cells were kept in 21 and 22µM of Gefitinib, the morphology of the cells started to change. When they reach 30µM concentration of Gefitinib their morphology was completely different from control cells. The Gef-DLD1 cells had mesenchymal morphology with long cell branches. They had a fibroblast-like shape. Moreover, the Gef-DLD1 cells grew entirely separately from each other, while the DMSO-DLD1 cells became packed when they were confluent. Pictures of Gef-DLD1 and DMSO-DLD1 cells in different concentrations are shown in Figure 13A.

A







Once the Gefitinib resistant cells were generated, the expression levels of some proteins were analyzed by Western Blotting. Differences were observed in the expression levels of different proteins between Gef-DLD1 and DMSO-DLD1 cells. Firstly a decrease in the levels of TBK1 protein and also IKK ε was observed in Gef-DLD1 cells. Additionally, the protein expression levels of EMT markers were evaluated in generated two different Gef-DLD1 cells. The expression levels of some mesenchymal markers, including N-cadherin and Integrin- α were upregulated in the Gef-DLD1 cells compared to the control cells. At the same time, the level of ZO-1 is decreased in Gef-DLD1 cells, which is an epithelial marker (Figure 13B).

CHAPTER 4

Discussion

TBK1 is a serine/threonine kinase protein with critical roles in regulating different cell signaling pathways, including innate immune responses, autophagy, NF- κ B, and cell survival ¹²⁰. By promoting various pathways, this protein involves in the pathogenesis of different diseases such as autoimmune diseases or cancer. Some studies suggest an oncogenic role for this protein in different cancer types such as breast cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), and melanoma ^{115,117,138}. NF- κ B is considered a bridge between inflammation and cancer since it is a critical regulator of inflammatory responses, cell survival, cell growth, and invasion. TBK1 and IKK ϵ are the members of non-canonical I κ B kinase family, which regulates NF- κ B signaling pathway to promote tumorigenesis ¹⁰³. Moreover, TBK1 involves in tumorigenesis of some cancer types by directly phosphorylating AKT and inducing cell proliferation ¹²¹.

In this study, the specific roles of TBK1 in colorectal cancer tumorigenesis and chemotherapeutic drug resistance have been investigated. In this context, we generated TBK1 loss of function cell line models via the shRNA lentiviral system to study the roles of TBK1 in colorectal cancer. The cell proliferation data obtained from our TBK1 depleted colorectal cancer cell line models indicate a suppressive role for TBK1 in tumor growth. Furthermore, the colonyforming ability of these cells is enhanced upon TBK1 depletion. Moreover, promoted tumor growth in our shTBK1 DLD1 xenograft nude mice models compared to the control mice confirmed our observation of increased cell proliferation upon TBK1 depletion *in vitro*. Consistent with this, TBK1 loss in Estrogen-receptor (ER) α positive has led to increased tumor growth by regulating ER α expression ¹³⁹. On the other hand, in some cancer types, TBK1 is observed to promote cell growth and survival by regulating intrinsic signaling pathways. In lung cancer, the requirement of TBK1 for tumorigenesis is reported by Zhu et al. ¹²⁹. In addition, a high expression level of TBK1 is detected in acute myeloid leukemia cells. TBK1 ablation in these cells is manifested to enhance apoptosis suggesting the importance of this protein in the survival of AML cells ¹²⁷. Also, TBK1 is reported to enhance tumor proliferation by regulating the activation of the mTOR pathway ^{140,141}. In addition, knockdown or pharmacological inhibition of TBK1 inhibits tumor growth in renal cancer cells ¹⁴². In some KRAS mutant cancer types, TBK1 is observed to promote cell proliferation and survival by activating NF-κB and mTOR pathways ¹¹⁹. On the other hand, there are some studies showing abbarant expression levels of TBK1 in some cancer types such as KRAS mutant non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma ^{143,144}. However, in these cancers, there is no evidence that TBK1 is necessary for tumor growth and proliferation. For instance, knockdown of TBK1 in two different non-small cell lung cancer cell lines did not have any effect on cell viability ¹⁴³. In general, more studies need to be done to elucidate TBK1 roles in tumor growth in different cancer types.

In different studies, the direct or indirect phosphorylation of AKT by TBK1 is reported. Ou et al. showed that AKT is a natural substrate of TBK1, and TBK1 ablation has impaired the phosphorylation of AKT protein ¹²¹. Moreover, it is reported that TBK1 is required for AKT phosphorylation, and TBK1 depletion impairs cancer cell viability ¹²¹. In this study, we could show that the phosphorylation of AKT and ERK are upregulated in some of the TBK1 depleted cells, which explains the increase in cell proliferation. Similarly, Yang et al. showed increased phosphorylation of AKT upon TBK1 loss in Estrogen receptor (ER)- α positive breast cancer, however, the mechanism under this increase remained to be elucidated ¹³⁹. Interestingly, an increase in the expression level of IKK ϵ is observed upon TBK1 depletion in our colorectal cancer cell lines. This increase in the IKK ϵ expression level suggests a regulatory role of IKK ϵ in AKT phosphorylation in colorectal cancer.

On the other hand, Göktuna et al. reported the direct regulation of ERK phosphorylation by IKK ϵ ^{145,146}. Hence, the upregulation in phosphorylation of ERK can be explained by the upregulated levels of IKK ϵ in our cells.

AKT is a central mediator of the PI3K signaling pathway. Phosphorylation of AKT activates other proteins in the PI3K pathway which ultimately controls survival ¹⁴⁷. There are some phosphatases like the PHLPP family that regulate the phosphorylation of AKT protein ¹⁴⁸. Although an increase in phosphorylation of AKT is reported in our TBK1 depleted cells, in some

shRNA TBK1 constructs no increase in pAKT levels was detected (Figure 4). Interestingly in that specific construct, there is a low expression level of tAKT. This observation can be explained by the off-target effects of that specific shRNA construct on the regulators of AKT.

In a previous project in our lab, tumor-suppressive roles of IKK ε in colorectal cancer tumorigenicity are indicated. In the mentioned study, enhanced cell proliferation and viability are shown upon IKK ε depletion in colorectal cancer cells. Considering the results of these two studies we can conclude that in the absence of TBK1, IKK ε tries to compensate for this absence. However, this compensation is not efficient since we still observe the increase in tumor growth upon TBK1 depletion. These observations suggest a tumor-suppressive role for both IKK ε and TBK1 via distinct pathways in colorectal cancer development. This is also confirmed by patient recurrent free survival (RFS) data analyzed in another project in our lab. In the mentioned analysis, patients with high levels of both TBK1 and IKK ε have the highest RFS. While reduced RFS is seen in patients with low TBK1 or low IKK ε levels. Additionally, this survival is much less in patients with low levels of both TBK1 and IKK ε . Hence, we can consider additive but not redundant roles for TBK1 and IKK ε in colorectal cancer development.

colorectal cancer patients ¹³⁷. They didn't report a role for TBK1 in intrinsic signaling pathways. However, the role of TBK1 on colorectal cancer tumorigenesis by regulating TH₁₇ cell differentiation and IL₁₇ production, a crucial interleukin in tumorigenesis, is emphasized in this study. The authors reported a positive association between IL₁₇ production and adenoma formation in small and large intestines ¹³⁷, also indicated previously in some studies ^{149,150}. Consistent with this, Tosolini et al. reported a poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients with a high level of genes associated with TH₁₇ ¹⁵¹. The level of IL₁₇ is reported to be increased in the tumor microenvironment of human colorectal cancer ¹⁵². Moreover, IL₁₇ in colorectal cancer is associated with angiogenesis ¹⁵³. Therefore, we can conclude the importance of the tumor microenvironment (TME) and the interactions of TBK1 with different cells in the initiation of colorectal cancer. To further understand the role of TBK1 in colorectal cancer initiation, coculture system or *in vivo* settings should also be considered. Mentioned approaches allow us to study the interactions of TBK1 with various cell types present in the TME and the effect of

TBK1 on the production of different factors such as inflammatory cytokines on colorectal cancer onset.

Overall, the epithelial to mesenchymal process is promoted upon TBK1 ablation in colorectal cancer cells. TBK1 depletion via both shRNA and siRNA in the colorectal cancer cell lines leads to promotion in some mesenchymal markers such as integrin- α and α -SMA. Additionally, a slight decline in epithelial markers is detected in these cells. Integrins are receptors for some molecules in the extracellular matrix (ECM) like laminin and collagen. The binding of integrins to the ECM triggers cellular functions like migration ¹⁵⁴. Hence, this shift in EMT can explain the progression in migration/invasion upon TBK1 depletion in colorectal cancer cell lines shown by wound healing and transwell migration/invasion assay. In conclusion, we can state that loss of TBK1 leads to partial EMT in colorectal cancer. Similarly, Loss of TBK1 in Estrogen receptor (ER)- α positive breast cancer has led to induced EMT and increased tumor growth and lung metastasis ¹³⁹. However, Cruz et al. showed induced epithelial plasticity in the mouse model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma upon loss of TBK1 function which leads to reduced tumor growth and metastasis ¹⁵⁵. These studies are confirming the regulatory role of TBK1 in EMT remain to be elucidated.

Drug resistance is a very complex concept that has been studied in various diseases. This happens when pharmaceutical treatment becomes ineffective in the disease treatment process. There are many factors involved in this process, including EMT. The association between EMT and drug resistance is reported in some cancer types, such as lung, bladder, and breast cancer ^{156–158}. In colorectal cancer cell lines, TBK1 ablation improves the resistance of the cells to the Gefitinib, which is shown by an increase in the Gefitinib IC₅₀ value in the TBK1 depleted cells. Moreover, in the generated Gefitinib-resistant DLD1 cell model, a reduction in TBK1 expression level is observed compared to the control cells. The regulatory role of TBK1 in drug resistance in breast cancer is pointed out previously ¹⁵⁹. The authors suggest that TBK1 increases resistance to tamoxifen by modifying the phosphorylation of estrogen receptor- α ¹⁵⁹. In addition, in melanoma, TBK1 loss has led to inhibition of resistance to MEK inhibitors ¹⁶⁰. In our drug-resistant DLD1 cells EMT is induced by a significant upregulation in mesenchymal marker

levels such as N-cadherin and integrin-α. Consistent with this, chronic resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs is shown to promote epithelial to mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer ^{67,71}. Chronic resistance to oxaliplatin is associated with increased mesenchymal markers and morphology in the resistant cells ⁶⁶. Also in these cells increased levels of Snail, an EMT-regulatory transcription factor is observed ⁶⁶.

Considering the diminished level of TBK1 and induced EMT in resistant cells, we can hypothesize that induction of EMT as a result of a decrease in TBK1 level may contribute to the acquired drug resistance in colorectal cancer. Therefore, the association between EMT and drug resistance is demonstrated in this study which is confirming the previous studies. In general, we can consider a tumor-suppressive role for TBK1 in both the early and late stages of colorectal cancer. However, this hypothesis should be further investigated by reexpressing TBK1 in the resistant cells to further understand the mechanisms of this drug resistance.

CHAPTER 5

Conclusion and future perspectives

TBK1 kinase protein regulates various cellular mechanisms such as innate immune responses, autophagy, cell proliferation, and survival. Some studies reported abbarant expression of TBK1 in different cancers such as breast, lung, and hepatocellular. The role of TBK1 in colorectal cancer is not yet well established. In this study, we mainly focused on the role of TBK1 in colorectal cancer tumorigenesis. By generating shRNA TBK1 knockdown cell models, we could indicate tumor-suppressive roles for this kinase protein in colorectal cancer. A progression in cell proliferation, migration, and invasion upon TBK1 depletion was observed in our cells. This increase in cell proliferation was confirmed further with an increase in the survival of the shRNA TBK1 cells under Gefitinib treatment, an EGFR inhibitor. We could show an increase in the level of IKKɛ in TBK1 depleted cells that indicates a compensatory role for IKKɛ. However, this compensation is not entirely efficient. These observations suggest tumor-suppressive roles for IKKɛ and TBK1 via distinct pathways. The role of TBK1 in cell-intrinsic signaling pathways in colorectal cancer needs to be further investigated.

We could also show that TBK1 inhibits EMT leading to a reduction in the migration of colorectal cancer cells. For better understating of TBK-specific roles in colorectal cancer development, generating TBK1 overexpressed colorectal cancer cell line models and studying the colorectal cancer tumorigenesis in this model might be a good idea.

Moreover, in this study, a suppressive role for TBK1 in the growth of drug-resistant models is indicated. By increasing TBK1 expression levels in drug-resistant cells and analysis of cell viability in this model, the effect of TBK1 in the late stages of colorectal cancer can be further proved.

Additionally, this study is done in an *in vitro* setting, not always representing the tumor microenvironment. We should consider the role of TBK1 in the immune system and inflammation, a crucial factor of the tumor microenvironment, and the importance of the tumor microenvironment in colorectal cancer initiation and progression. Although the tumor growth in xenograft models is analyzed in this study, the conclusion is challenging since xenograft models

lacking the immune system are not the best models for studying the tumor microenvironment. Hence, the co-culture or in vivo settings are suggested to be explored in the following steps.

Bibliography

- Sung, H. *et al.* Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* 71, 209–249 (2021).
- Vogelstein, B. *et al.* Genetic Alterations during Colorectal-Tumor Development. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198809013190901 319, 525–532 (2010).
- André, T. *et al.* Oxaliplatin, Fluorouracil, and Leucovorin as Adjuvant Treatment for Colon Cancer. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa032709* 350, 2343–2351 (2009).
- Markowitz, S. D. & Bertagnolli, M. M. Molecular Basis of Colorectal Cancer. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra0804588 361, 2449–2460 (2010).
- 5. Markowitz, S., Dawson, D., Willis, J., cell, J. W.-C. & 2002, undefined. Focus on colon cancer. *cell.com*.
- Fearon, E. R. & Vogelstein, B. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell* 61, 759–767 (1990).
- Guttmacher, A. E., Collins, F. S., Lynch, H. T. & De La Chapelle, A. Hereditary Colorectal Cancer. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra012242* 348, 919–932 (2009).
- Levin, B. *et al.* Screening and Surveillance for the Early Detection of Colorectal Cancer and Adenomatous Polyps, 2008: A Joint Guideline from the American Cancer Society, the US Multi-Society Task Force on Colorectal Cancer, and the American College of Radiology*†. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* 58, 130–160 (2008).
- 9. Eaden, J. A., Abrams, K. R. & Mayberry, J. F. The risk of colorectal cancer in ulcerative colitis: a meta-analysis. doi:10.1136/gut.48.4.526.
- Canavan, C., Abrams, K. R. & Mayberry, J. Meta-analysis: colorectal and small bowel cancer risk in patients with Crohn's disease. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 23, 1097–1104 (2006).
- Johns, L. E. & Houlston, R. S. A systematic review and meta-analysis of familial colorectal cancer risk. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 96, 2992–3003 (2001).
- 12. Willett, W. C. Diet and Cancer: An Evolving Picture. JAMA 293, 233–234 (2005).

- Pino, M. S. & Chung, D. C. THE CHROMOSOMAL INSTABILITY PATHWAY IN COLON CANCER. *Gastroenterology* 138, 2059 (2010).
- Grady, W. M. & Carethers, J. M. Genomic and Epigenetic Instability in Colorectal Cancer Pathogenesis. *Gastroenterology* 135, 1079–1099 (2008).
- Lengauer, C., Kinzler, K. W. & Vogelstein, B. Genetic instabilities in human cancers. *Nature* 396, 643–649 (1998).
- 16. Thiagalingam, S. *et al.* Mechanisms underlying losses of heterozygosity in human colorectal cancers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 2698–2702 (2001).
- Baker, S. J. *et al.* Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. *Science* 244, 217–221 (1989).
- Markowitz, S. *et al.* Inactivation of the type II TGF-beta receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability. *Science* 268, 1336–1338 (1995).
- 19. Rubinfeld, B. *et al.* Binding of GSK3beta to the APC-beta-catenin complex and regulation of complex assembly. *Science* **272**, 1023–1026 (1996).
- Santini, D. *et al.* High concordance of KRAS status between primary colorectal tumors and related metastatic sites: implications for clinical practice. *Oncologist* 13, 1270–1275 (2008).
- Fearon, E. R. Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer. *Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis.* 6, 479–507 (2011).
- 22. Robles, A. I., Jen, J. & Harris, C. C. Clinical Outcomes of TP53 Mutations in Cancers. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* **6**, a026294 (2016).
- Takagi, Y. *et al.* Somatic alterations of the DPC4 gene in human colorectal cancers in vivo. *Gastroenterology* 111, 1369–1372 (1996).
- Takagi, Y. *et al.* Somatic alterations of the SMAD-2 gene in human colorectal cancers. *Br. J. Cancer 1998 789* 78, 1152–1155 (1998).
- Lao, V. V. & Grady, W. M. Epigenetics and colorectal cancer. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 2011 812* 8, 686–700 (2011).
- Xie, Y. H., Chen, Y. X. & Fang, J. Y. Comprehensive review of targeted therapy for colorectal cancer. *Signal Transduct. Target. Ther.* 2020 51 5, 1–30 (2020).
- 27. Wang, Z. ErbB Receptors and Cancer. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1652, 3–35 (2017).
- 28. Roskoski, R. The ErbB/HER family of protein-tyrosine kinases and cancer. *Pharmacol.*

Res. **79**, 34–74 (2014).

- Rotow, J. & Bivona, T. G. Understanding and targeting resistance mechanisms in NSCLC. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2017 1711 17, 637–658 (2017).
- Hsu, J. L. & Hung, M. C. The role of HER2, EGFR, and other receptor tyrosine kinases in breast cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2016 354* 35, 575–588 (2016).
- Pearson, G. *et al.* Mitogen-Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Pathways:Regulation and Physiological Functions. *Endocr. Rev.* 22, 153–183 (2001).
- Alzahrani, A. S. PI3K/Akt/mTOR inhibitors in cancer: At the bench and bedside. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 59, 125–132 (2019).
- Cunningham, D. *et al.* Cetuximab Monotherapy and Cetuximab plus Irinotecan in Irinotecan-Refractory Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa033025* 351, 337–345 (2009).
- Douillard, J. Y. *et al.* Final results from PRIME: randomized phase III study of panitumumab with FOLFOX4 for first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. *Ann. Oncol.* 25, 1346–1355 (2014).
- 35. Misale, S. *et al.* Emergence of KRAS mutations and acquired resistance to anti-EGFR therapy in colorectal cancer. *Nat. 2012 4867404* **486**, 532–536 (2012).
- Diaz, L. A. *et al.* The molecular evolution of acquired resistance to targeted EGFR blockade in colorectal cancers. *Nat. 2012 4867404* 486, 537–540 (2012).
- Bouchahda, M. *et al.* Acquired KRAS mutations during progression of colorectal cancer metastases: Possible implications for therapy and prognosis. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* 66, 605–609 (2010).
- Misale, S. *et al.* Blockade of EGFR and MEK intercepts heterogeneous mechanisms of acquired resistance to Anti-EGFR therapies in colorectal cancer. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 6, (2014).
- Liska, D., Chen, C. T., Bachleitner-Hofmann, T., Christensen, J. G. & Weiser, M. R. HGF rescues colorectal cancer cells from EGFR inhibition via MET activation. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 17, 472–482 (2011).
- 40. Bardelli, A. *et al.* Amplification of the MET receptor drives resistance to anti-EGFR therapies in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Discov.* **3**, 658–673 (2013).
- 41. Bertotti, A. et al. A molecularly annotated platform of patient- derived xenografts

('xenopatients') identifies HER2 as an effective therapeutic target in cetuximab-resistant colorectal cancer. *Cancer Discov.* **1**, 508–523 (2011).

- 42. Polyak, K. & Weinberg, R. A. Transitions between epithelial and mesenchymal states: acquisition of malignant and stem cell traits. *Nat. Rev. Cancer 2009 94* **9**, 265–273 (2009).
- 43. Zhang, Y. & Weinberg, R. A. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer: complexity and opportunities. *Front. Med.* **12**, 361–373 (2018).
- Lim, J. & Thiery, J. P. Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions: insights from development. Development 139, 3471–3486 (2012).
- 45. Roche, J. The epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer. *Cancers (Basel).* 10, (2018).
- Their, J. P. Epithelial–mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2002 26 2, 442–454 (2002).
- 47. Gurzu, S. *et al.* Systematic review of the old and new concepts in the epithelialmesenchymal transition of colorectal cancer. *World J. Gastroenterol.* **22**, 6764 (2016).
- 48. Ueno, H. *et al.* Prognostic impact of histological categorisation of epithelial–mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer. *Br. J. Cancer 2014 11111* **111**, 2082–2090 (2014).
- Ueno, H., Murphy, J., Jass, J. R., Mochizuki, H. & Talbot, I. C. Tumour 'budding' as an index to estimate the potential of aggressiveness in rectal cancer. *Histopathology* 40, 127–132 (2002).
- 50. Khanh, D. T. *et al.* Prognostic role of CD10+ myeloid cells in association with tumor budding at the invasion front of colorectal cancer. *Cancer Sci.* **102**, 1724–1733 (2011).
- Toiyama, Y. *et al.* Increased expression of Slug and Vimentin as novel predictive biomarkers for lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 34, 2548–2557 (2013).
- He, X., Chen, Z., Jia, M. & Zhao, X. Downregulated E-Cadherin Expression Indicates Worse Prognosis in Asian Patients with Colorectal Cancer: Evidence from Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One* 8, e70858 (2013).
- 53. Peña, C. *et al.* E-cadherin and vitamin D receptor regulation by SNAIL and ZEB1 in colon cancer: clinicopathological correlations. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **14**, 3361–3370 (2005).
- Reinacher-Schick, A. *et al.* Loss of Smad4 correlates with loss of the invasion suppressor
 E-cadherin in advanced colorectal carcinomas. *J. Pathol.* 202, 412–420 (2004).
- 55. Zhang, B. et al. Antimetastatic Role of Smad4 Signaling in Colorectal Cancer.

Gastroenterology 138, 969-980.e3 (2010).

- Xiong, H. *et al.* Roles of STAT3 and ZEB1 Proteins in E-cadherin Down-regulation and Human Colorectal Cancer Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition *. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 5819–5832 (2012).
- Brabletz, T. *et al.* Variable β-catenin expression in colorectal cancers indicates tumor progression driven by the tumor environment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 98, 10356– 10361 (2001).
- 58. Qi, L. *et al.* Dickkopf-1 inhibits epithelial-mesenchymal transition of colon cancer cells and contributes to colon cancer suppression. *Cancer Sci.* **103**, 828–835 (2012).
- Lemieux, É. *et al.* Constitutively active MEK1 is sufficient to induce epithelial-tomesenchymal transition in intestinal epithelial cells and to promote tumor invasion and metastasis. *Int. J. Cancer* 125, 1575–1586 (2009).
- Li, X. *et al.* PHLPP Is a Negative Regulator of RAF1, Which Reduces Colorectal Cancer Cell Motility and Prevents Tumor Progression in Mice. *Gastroenterology* 146, 1301-1312.e10 (2014).
- Gulhati, P. *et al.* mTORC1 and mTORC2 regulate EMT, motility, and metastasis of colorectal cancer via RhoA and Rac1 signaling pathways. *Cancer Res.* 71, 3246–3256 (2011).
- 62. Rokavec, M. *et al.* IL-6R/STAT3/miR-34a feedback loop promotes EMT-mediated colorectal cancer invasion and metastasis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **124**, 1853–1867 (2014).
- Bates, R. C., Deleo, M. J. & Mercurio, A. M. The epithelial-mesenchymal transition of colon carcinoma involves expression of IL-8 and CXCR-1-mediated chemotaxis. *Exp. Cell Res.* 299, 315–324 (2004).
- 64. Cheng, X. S. *et al.* CCL20 and CXCL8 synergize to promote progression and poor survival outcome in patients with colorectal cancer by collaborative induction of the epithelial–mesenchymal transition. *Cancer Lett.* **348**, 77–87 (2014).
- 65. Li, Y., Wang, L., Pappan, L., Galliher-Beckley, A. & Shi, J. IL-1β promotes stemness and invasiveness of colon cancer cells through Zeb1 activation. *Mol. Cancer* **11**, 1–13 (2012).
- 66. Yang, A. D. *et al.* Chronic Oxaliplatin Resistance Induces Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition in Colorectal Cancer Cell Lines. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **12**, 4147–4153 (2006).
- 67. Hoshino, H. et al. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition with expression of SNAI1-induced
chemoresistance in colorectal cancer. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **390**, 1061–1065 (2009).

- Buck, E. *et al.* Loss of homotypic cell adhesion by epithelial-mesenchymal transition or mutation limits sensitivity to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 6, 532–541 (2007).
- 69. Schmitz, S., Bindea, G., Albu, R. I., Mlecnik, B. & Machiels, J. P. Cetuximab promotes epithelial to mesenchymal transition and cancer associated fibroblasts in patients with head and neck cancer. *Oncotarget* **6**, 34288 (2015).
- Albasri, A. *et al.* C-terminal Tensin-like (CTEN) is an oncogene which alters cell motility possibly through repression of E-cadherin in colorectal cancer. *J. Pathol.* 218, 57–65 (2009).
- Chen, X. *et al.* Loss of E-cadherin promotes the growth, invasion and drug resistance of colorectal cancer cells and is associated with liver metastasis. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 39, 6707–6714 (2012).
- 72. Trumpp, A. & Wiestler, O. D. Mechanisms of Disease: cancer stem cells—targeting the evil twin. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Oncol. 2008 56* **5**, 337–347 (2008).
- 73. Larabi, A. *et al.* Crystal Structure and Mechanism of Activation of TANK-Binding Kinase
 1. *Cell Rep.* 3, 734–746 (2013).
- Tu, D. *et al.* Structure and Ubiquitination-Dependent Activation of TANK-Binding Kinase 1. *Cell Rep.* 3, 747–758 (2013).
- 75. Runde, A. P., Mack, R., S.J., P. B. & Zhang, J. The role of TBK1 in cancer pathogenesis and anticancer immunity. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 2022 411* **41**, 1–25 (2022).
- Sparrer, K. M. J. *et al.* TRIM23 mediates virus-induced autophagy via activation of TBK1. *Nat. Microbiol. 2017 211* 2, 1543–1557 (2017).
- 77. Fang, R. *et al.* MAVS activates TBK1 and IKKε through TRAFs in NEMO dependent and independent manner. *PLOS Pathog.* 13, e1006720 (2017).
- Goncalves, A. *et al.* Functional Dissection of the TBK1 Molecular Network. *PLoS One* 6, e23971 (2011).
- 79. Yu, T. *et al.* The pivotal role of TBK1 in inflammatory responses mediated by macrophages. *Mediators Inflamm.* **2012**, (2012).
- 80. Newman, A. C. et al. TBK1 Kinase Addiction in Lung Cancer Cells Is Mediated via

Autophagy of Tax1bp1/Ndp52 and Non-Canonical NF-κB Signalling. *PLoS One* 7, e50672 (2012).

- Zhao, Y. *et al.* PPM1B negatively regulates antiviral response via dephosphorylating TBK1. *Cell. Signal.* 24, 2197–2204 (2012).
- Li, D. *et al.* The E3 Ubiquitin Ligase TBK1 Mediates the Degradation of Multiple Picornavirus VP3 Proteins by Phosphorylation and Ubiquitination. *J. Virol.* 93, (2019).
- 83. Tang, J. lin *et al.* Histone deacetylase 3 promotes innate antiviral immunity through deacetylation of TBK1. *Protein Cell* **12**, 261–278 (2021).
- Lei, C. Q. *et al.* Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3β Regulates IRF3 Transcription Factor-Mediated Antiviral Response via Activation of the Kinase TBK1. *Immunity* 33, 878–889 (2010).
- 85. Soulat, D. *et al.* The DEAD-box helicase DDX3X is a critical component of the TANKbinding kinase 1-dependent innate immune response. *EMBO J.* **27**, 2135–2146 (2008).
- Harris, J. *et al.* Nuclear Accumulation of cRel following C-Terminal phosphorylation by TBK1/IKKε. *J. Immunol.* 177, 2527–2535 (2006).
- Richter, B. *et al.* Phosphorylation of OPTN by TBK1 enhances its binding to Ub chains and promotes selective autophagy of damaged mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 113, 4039–4044 (2016).
- 88. Heo, J. M. *et al.* RAB7A phosphorylation by TBK1 promotes mitophagy via the PINK-PARKIN pathway. *Sci. Adv.* **4**, (2018).
- Xie, X. *et al.* IκB kinase ε and TANK-binding kinase 1 activate AKT by direct phosphorylation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108, 6474–6479 (2011).
- 90. Bodur, C. *et al.* The IKK-related kinase TBK1 activates mTORC1 directly in response to growth factors and innate immune agonists. *EMBO J.* **37**, 19–38 (2018).
- Antonia, R. J. *et al.* TBK1 Limits mTORC1 by Promoting Phosphorylation of Raptor Ser877. *Sci. Reports 2019 91* 9, 1–10 (2019).
- 92. Hasan, M. *et al.* Chronic innate immune activation of TBK1 suppresses mTORC1 activity and dysregulates cellular metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **114**, 746–751 (2017).
- Brubaker, S. W., Bonham, K. S., Zanoni, I. & Kagan, J. C. Innate immune pattern recognition: A cell biological perspective. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 33, 257–290 (2015).
- 94. Rehwinkel, J. & Gack, M. U. RIG-I-like receptors: their regulation and roles in RNA

sensing. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2020 209 20, 537-551 (2020).

- 95. Lee, S. H. *et al.* IL-17 axis accelerates the inflammatory progression of obese in mice via TBK1 and IKBKE pathway. *Immunol. Lett.* **184**, 67–75 (2017).
- Yamamoto, M. *et al.* Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Science (80-.).* 301, 640–643 (2003).
- 97. Fitzgerald, K. A. *et al.* IKKε and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. *Nat. Immunol. 2003 45* **4**, 491–496 (2003).
- 98. Sharma, S. *et al.* Triggering the interferon antiviral response through an IKK-related pathway. *Science (80-.).* **300**, 1148–1151 (2003).
- 99. Hasan, M. & Yan, N. Therapeutic potential of targeting TBK1 in autoimmune diseases and interferonopathies. *Pharmacol. Res.* **111**, 336–342 (2016).
- Sun, S. C., Chang, J. H. & Jin, J. Regulation of nuclear factor-κB in autoimmunity. *Trends Immunol.* 34, 282–289 (2013).
- Pomerantz, J. L. & Baltimore, D. NF-κB activation by a signaling complex containing TRAF2, TANK and TBK1, a novel IKK-related kinase. *EMBO J.* 18, 6694–6704 (1999).
- Shimada, T. *et al.* IKK-i, a novel lipopolysaccharide-inducible kinase that is related to IκB kinases. *Int. Immunol.* 11, 1357–1362 (1999).
- Harris, J. *et al.* Nuclear Accumulation of cRel following C-Terminal phosphorylation by TBK1/IKKε. *J. Immunol.* 177, 2527–2535 (2006).
- Chen, H. *et al.* Activation of STAT6 by STING Is Critical for Antiviral Innate Immunity. *Cell* 147, 436–446 (2011).
- Xiao, Y. *et al.* The kinase TBK1 functions in dendritic cells to regulate T cell homeostasis, autoimmunity, and antitumor immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 214, 1493–1507 (2017).
- Levine, B. & Klionsky, D. J. Development by Self-Digestion: Molecular Mechanisms and Biological Functions of Autophagy. *Dev. Cell* 6, 463–477 (2004).
- 107. Gukovsky, I., Li, N., Todoric, J., Gukovskaya, A. & Karin, M. Inflammation, autophagy, and obesity: Common features in the pathogenesis of pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. *Gastroenterology* 144, (2013).
- Yang, S. *et al.* Pancreatic cancers require autophagy for tumor growth. *Genes Dev.* 25, 717–729 (2011).

- Randow, F. & Youle, R. J. Self and Nonself: How Autophagy Targets Mitochondria and Bacteria. *Cell Host Microbe* 15, 403–411 (2014).
- Singh, A., Kendall, S. L. & Campanella, M. Common traits spark the mitophagy/xenophagy interplay. *Front. Physiol.* 9, 1172 (2018).
- Jo, E. K., Yuk, J. M., Shin, D. M. & Sasakawa, C. Roles of autophagy in elimination of intracellular bacterial pathogens. *Front. Immunol.* 4, 97 (2013).
- Pilli, M. *et al.* TBK-1 Promotes Autophagy-Mediated Antimicrobial Defense by Controlling Autophagosome Maturation. *Immunity* 37, 223–234 (2012).
- Wild, P. *et al.* Phosphorylation of the autophagy receptor optineurin restricts Salmonella growth. *Science (80-.).* 333, 228–233 (2011).
- 114. Gleason, C. E., Ordureau, A., Gourlay, R., Arthur, J. S. C. & Cohen, P. Polyubiquitin binding to optineurin is required for optimal activation of TANK-binding kinase 1 and production of interferon β. *J. Biol. Chem.* **286**, 35663–35674 (2011).
- 115. Vu, H. L. & Aplin, A. E. Targeting TBK1 inhibits migration and resistance to MEK inhibitors in mutant NRAS melanoma. *Mol. Cancer Res.* **12**, 1509–1519 (2014).
- 116. Jiang, Y. *et al.* TANK-Binding Kinase 1 (TBK1) Serves as a Potential Target for Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Enhancing Tumor Immune Infiltration. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 35 (2021).
- Shen, R. R. & Hahn, W. C. Emerging roles for the non-canonical IKKs in cancer. Oncogene 2011 306 30, 631–641 (2010).
- 118. Kim, J. Y. *et al.* Dissection of TBK1 signaling via phosphoproteomics in lung cancer cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **110**, 12414–12419 (2013).
- 119. Barbie, D. A. *et al.* Systematic RNA interference reveals that oncogenic KRAS-driven cancers require TBK1. *Nat. 2009 4627269* **462**, 108–112 (2009).
- 120. Runde, A. P., Mack, R., S.J., P. B. & Zhang, J. The role of TBK1 in cancer pathogenesis and anticancer immunity. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 2022 411* **41**, 1–25 (2022).
- Ou, Y. H. *et al.* TBK1 Directly Engages Akt/PKB Survival Signaling to Support Oncogenic Transformation. *Mol. Cell* 41, 458–470 (2011).
- Cooper, J. M. *et al.* TBK1 provides context-selective support of the activated AKT/mTOR pathway in lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 77, 5077–5094 (2017).
- 123. Peters, R. T. & Maniatis, T. A new family of IKK-related kinases may function as IkB

kinase kinases. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Rev. Cancer 1471, (2001).

- Fujita, F. *et al.* Identification of NAP1, a Regulatory Subunit of IκB Kinase-Related Kinases That Potentiates NF-κB Signaling. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 23, 7780–7793 (2003).
- Matsumoto, G., Shimogori, T., Hattori, N. & Nukina, N. TBK1 controls autophagosomal engulfment of polyubiquitinated mitochondria through p62/SQSTM1 phosphorylation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 24, 4429–4442 (2015).
- Hu, L. *et al.* TBK1 is a synthetic lethal target in cancer with VHL loss. *Cancer Discov.* 10, 460–475 (2020).
- 127. Liu, S. *et al.* The kinases IKBKE and TBK1 regulate MYC-dependent survival pathways through YB-1 in AML and are targets for therapy. *Blood Adv.* **2**, 3428–3442 (2018).
- 128. Hsia, H. C., Hutti, J. E. & Baldwin, A. S. Cytosolic DNA promotes signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) phosphorylation by TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) to restrain STAT3 activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **292**, 5405–5417 (2017).
- Zhu, L. *et al.* TBKBP1 and TBK1 form a growth factor signalling axis mediating immunosuppression and tumourigenesis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2019 2112 21, 1604–1614 (2019).
- Hamad, N. M. *et al.* Distinct requirements for Ras oncogenesis in human versus mouse cells. *Genes Dev.* 16, 2045–2057 (2002).
- Lim, K. H. *et al.* Divergent Roles for RalA and RalB in Malignant Growth of Human Pancreatic Carcinoma Cells. *Curr. Biol.* 16, 2385–2394 (2006).
- Weaver, V. M. *et al.* β4 integrin-dependent formation of polarized three-dimensional architecture confers resistance to apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelium. *Cancer Cell* 2, 205–216 (2002).
- Camonis, J. H. & White, M. A. Ral GTPases: corrupting the exocyst in cancer cells. *Trends Cell Biol.* 15, 327–332 (2005).
- 134. Zhu, Z. *et al.* Inhibition of KRAS-driven tumorigenicity by interruption of an autocrine cytokine circuit. *Cancer Discov.* **4**, 453–465 (2014).
- 135. Korherr, C. *et al.* Identification of proangiogenic genes and pathways by high-throughput functional genomics: TBK1 and the IRF3 pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 103, 4240–4245 (2006).
- Cai, H., Yan, L., Liu, N., Xu, M. & Cai, H. IFI16 promotes cervical cancer progression by upregulating PD-L1 in immunomicroenvironment through STING-TBK1-NF-kB

pathway. Biomed. Pharmacother. 123, 109790 (2020).

- Yang, J. Y. *et al.* Intestinal Epithelial TBK1 Prevents Differentiation of T-helper 17 Cells and Tumorigenesis in Mice. *Gastroenterology* 159, 1793–1806 (2020).
- Xiang, S. *et al.* TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1): An emerging therapeutic target for drug discovery. *Drug Discov. Today* 26, 2445–2455 (2021).
- Yang, K. M. *et al.* Loss of TBK1 induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the breast cancer cells by ERα downregulation. *Cancer Res.* 73, 6679–6689 (2013).
- Zhu, Z., Golay, H. G. & Barbie, D. A. Targeting pathways downstream of KRAS in lung adenocarcinoma. *Pharmacogenomics* 15, 1507 (2014).
- 141. Zhu, Z. *et al.* Inhibition of KRAS-driven tumorigenicity by interruption of an autocrine cytokine circuit. *Cancer Discov.* **4**, 453–465 (2014).
- 142. Hu, L. *et al.* TBK1 Is a Synthetic Lethal Target in Cancer with VHL Loss. *Cancer Discov.*10, 460–475 (2020).
- Muvaffak, A. *et al.* Evaluating TBK1 as a therapeutic target in cancers with activated IRF3. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 12, 1055–1066 (2014).
- 144. Ou, Y. H. *et al.* TBK1 directly engages Akt/PKB survival signaling to support oncogenic transformation. *Mol. Cell* **41**, 458–470 (2011).
- 145. Göktuna, S. I. *et al.* The Prosurvival IKK-Related Kinase IKKε Integrates LPS and IL17A Signaling Cascades to Promote Wnt-Dependent Tumor Development in the Intestine. *Cancer Res.* **76**, 2587–2599 (2016).
- 146. Göktuna, S. İ. IKBKE-driven TPL2 and MEK1 phosphorylations sustain constitutive ERK1/2 activation in tumor cells. *EXCLI J.* **21**, 436 (2022).
- Newton, A. C. & Trotman, L. C. Turning Off AKT: PHLPP as a Drug Target. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 54, 537 (2014).
- Gao, T., Furnari, F. & Newton, A. C. PHLPP: A Phosphatase that Directly Dephosphorylates Akt, Promotes Apoptosis, and Suppresses Tumor Growth. *Mol. Cell* 18, 13–24 (2005).
- Wang, K. *et al.* Interleukin-17 Receptor A Signaling in Transformed Enterocytes Promotes Early Colorectal Tumorigenesis. *Immunity* 41, 1052–1063 (2014).
- 150. Chae, W. J. *et al.* Ablation of IL-17A abrogates progression of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**, 5540–5544 (2010).

- Tosolini, M. *et al.* Clinical impact of different classes of infiltrating T cytotoxic and helper cells (Th1, Th2, Treg, Th17) in patients with colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 71, 1263–1271 (2011).
- Cui, G., Yuan, A., Goll, R. & Florholmen, J. IL-17A in the tumor microenvironment of the human colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence. *Scand. J. Gastroenterol.* 47, 1304– 1312 (2012).
- Liu, J. *et al.* IL-17 is associated with poor prognosis and promotes angiogenesis via stimulating VEGF production of cancer cells in colorectal carcinoma. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 407, 348–354 (2011).
- 154. Broom, O. J., Massoumi, R. & Sjölander, A. α2β1 integrin signalling enhances cyclooxygenase-2 expression in intestinal epithelial cells. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 209, 950–958 (2006).
- 155. Cruz, V. H., Arner, E. N., Du, W., Bremauntz, A. E. & Brekken, R. A. Axl-mediated activation of TBK1 drives epithelial plasticity in pancreatic cancer. *JCI Insight* **4**, (2019).
- Huang, J., Li, H. & Ren, G. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and drug resistance in breast cancer (Review). *Int. J. Oncol.* 47, 840–848 (2015).
- 157. McConkey, D. J. *et al.* Role of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in drug sensitivity and metastasis in bladder cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* **28**, 335–344 (2009).
- Fischer, K. R. *et al.* Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is not required for lung metastasis but contributes to chemoresistance. *Nat. 2015 5277579* 527, 472–476 (2015).
- 159. Wei, C. *et al.* Elevated expression of TANK-binding kinase 1 enhances tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **111**, (2014).
- 160. Vu, H. L. & Aplin, A. E. Targeting TBK1 inhibits migration and resistance to MEK inhibitors in mutant NRAS melanoma. *Mol. Cancer Res.* **12**, 1509–1519 (2014).

Appendix A-Data

Permission for copyrights for the figures used in this thesis.

Copyrights permission for Figure 1

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS Jul 06, 2022

This Agreement between Mrs. Servin Bagheralmoosavi ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5342890954069
License date	Jul 06, 2022
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Gastroenterology
Licensed Content Title	The Chromosomal Instability Pathway in Colon Cancer
Licensed Content Author	Maria S. Pino,Daniel C. Chung
Licensed Content Date	May 1, 2010
Licensed Content Volume	138
Licensed Content Issue	6
Licensed Content Pages	14
Start Page	2059
End Page	2072
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No

Title

Institution name Expected presentation date Portions

IDENTIFYING TBK1-SPECIFIC ROLES IN COLORECTAL CANCER Bilkent University Jul 2022 Figure 1 Mrs. Servin Bagheralmoosavi Bilkent university

Requestor Location

Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mrs. Servin Bagheralmoosavi GB 494 6272 12 0.00 USD

Publisher Tax ID Total

Appendix B

Copyrights permission for Figure 2

LSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS Jul 06, 2022

This Agreement between Mrs. Servin Bagheralmoosavi ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5342890622245
License date	Jul 06, 2022
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Drug Discovery Today
Licensed Content Title	TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1): An emerging therapeutic target for drug discovery
Licensed Content Author	Shuang Xiang,Shukai Song,Haotian Tang,Jeff B. Smaill,Aiqun Wang,Hua Xie,Xiaoyun Lu
Licensed Content Date	Oct 1, 2021
Licensed Content Volume	26
Licensed Content Issue	10
Licensed Content Pages	11
Start Page	2445
End Page	2455
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic

Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Title	IDENTIFYING TBK1-SPECIFIC ROLES IN COLORECTAL CANCER
Institution name	Bilkent University
Expected presentation date	Jul 2022
Portions	Figure 1a,b
	Mrs. Servin Bagheralmoosavi Bilkent university
Requestor Location	
	Ankara, 06800 Turkey Attn: Mrs. Servin Bagheralmoosavi
Publisher Tax ID	GB 494 6272 12
Total ().00 USD